

Australian Government Australian Digital Health Agency

Digital Health Test Beds Program



October 2022

Contents

Executive summary
Digital Health Test Beds
What were the Digital Health Test Beds?8
What did the Digital Health Test Beds do?
Section 1: Technical test beds
Integrating My Health Record in outpatient cardiology clinics to improve quality of care \dots 12
Enhanced view of the Shared Health Summary on My Health Record
Aggregating historical pathology results into one digital platform to reduce inefficiencies 19
Prototyping a mobile app for people with pancreatic cancer
Piloting clinical administration of a digital patient experience measure in cancer care 25
Digitising and linking Advance Care Directives with My Health Record
Developing the Western Sydney Diabetes Data Hub
Developing an algorithm predicting risk of unplanned hospitalisation
Section 2: Implementation test beds 41
Effective medicines safety at transition of care
Enhancing medicine reconciliation delivered by community pharmacies
Prescribing personalised health information at hospital discharge in Indigenous communities51
Connecting chronically ill patients to their digital health ecosystem through a mobile app $. $ 55
Maintaining continuity of care for prisoners released from incarceration
Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging in the aged care sector
Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging among private specialists
Conclusion and next steps
What did the Digital Health Test Beds achieve? 70
What did we learn from the Digital Health Test Beds?
Moving forward: The Agency's new approach to innovation
References

Executive summary

Introduction

This report provides a summary of the Digital Health Test Beds research program (2018–2021) and its learnings. The first part of the report, 'Digital Health Test Beds', describes the 'what, where and how's of the Digital Health Test Beds. This is followed by two main sections: Section 1 focusing on the technical test beds and Section 2 focusing on the implementation test beds. These sections contain individual write-ups of each of the 15 Digital Health Test Bed projects that describe each test bed's context, methods, results and learnings. The 'Conclusion and next steps' section rounds out the report by summarising the achievements and learnings of the Digital Health Test Beds program and describing the Australian Digital Health Agency's next steps.

Digital Health Test Beds

The Digital Health Test Beds program was a research program funded by the Australian Digital Health Agency (the Agency) between June 2018 and June 2021. This program aimed to trial digital health innovations in frontline clinical settings and pilot solutions immediately usable by health workers.

The Digital Health Test Beds were divided into two streams of work: technical test beds and implementation test beds.

Technical test beds

Technical test beds related to the development and evaluation of digital health solutions. Project teams working on these test beds developed methods to integrate digital health tools into existing clinical workflows, for example by addressing key **software interoperability and usability challenges**. Technical test bed project teams also worked on developing mobile solutions that put **health in patients' hands** and developed infrastructure to enable the use of **data for research and public health purposes**.

Implementation test beds

On the other hand, implementation test beds explored the implementation of new, digital ways of working in healthcare settings. They focused on piloting ways to **improve the accessibility and adoption of digital health services** through digitising clinical workflows and explored barriers and enablers to **implementing Agency initiatives within less digitally mature settings**, such as the justice system, private specialist practice and residential aged care.

Conclusion and next steps Program achievements

The technical test beds struck a balance between developing and piloting new and emerging technical solutions and enhancing digital health solutions used by healthcare professionals today. The initiatives that successfully designed and implemented solutions for the use of health information for research and public health purposes highlight how this data can contribute to a public health response. For example, the Western Sydney Diabetes dashboards have been used to support public health and research efforts to manage diabetes within Western Sydney, allowing clinicians to redirect resources in response to the latest data from the ground.

However, as bespoke technical solutions cannot be developed for every single health context, insights from implementation are required to supplement digital health research. The implementation test beds contributed many learnings for future practitioners intending to implement digital health solutions within clinical settings of varying digital maturity. Two of the implementation test beds that focused on medicine reconciliation during different parts of the patient journey also generated promising evidence about integrating digital health solutions into this process and the feasibility of integrating electronic medical records into clinical workflows.

Learnings

The Digital Health Test Beds program established that consumers and healthcare professionals are generally positive about the use of digital health solutions. However, privacy concerns remain salient for consumers, and professionals play an important role in encouraging their patients to try out new digital technologies.

The Digital Health Test Beds also identified barriers to digital health adoption for both patients and professionals, including lack of digital literacy and complexities in training processes. A key takeaway was learning that having someone 'champion' use of digital technologies within the test beds could help to overcome some barriers to adoption.

Learnings from the test beds highlighted the difficulties of and resistance towards digital health solutions in complex environments which lacked existing digital infrastructure, such as aged care facilities. Providing clear benefits of adoption, as well as efforts to understand and resolve existing barriers, is particularly important in these contexts.

At the same time, the program learnt a lot about the feasibility of integrating digital health solutions into existing workflows. This was most successful when embedded into the settings where the digital technology was implemented. Future initiatives should also promote widespread adoption across a variety of providers (e.g. allied health, specialists, hospitals) to improve clinical uptake of digital health.

Across the test bed projects, many interoperability issues, such as lack of standardisation of medication names, caused challenges. Further, a lack of clear guidance relating to digital health functionalities, such as the automated transfer of patient data, caused duty of care concerns for professionals. These challenges need to be explored further before digital health solutions can be rolled out at scale.

Next steps

The test bed program demonstrates that while digital technologies can enable new models of care across different healthcare settings, they are not the solution in and of themselves and are best viewed as parts of wider solutions to tackle barriers to adoption. Implementing these solutions will require broader changes across the healthcare system. It is vital that these solutions are continuously co-designed with users to ensure they are sustainable into the future.

Further, new models of research are required to evaluate the impact of digital interventions. There is a clear need for methods that go beyond the limitations of traditional randomised controlled trials, and that can overcome the challenges of conducting research in real-world settings through uncertain disruptions, such as COVID-19.

Moving forward, a simulated version of real-world environments could be an ideal setting to test technologies, where any failures have no material impact.

INTRODUCTION Digital Health Test Beds

This section looks at:

- What were the Digital Health Test Beds?
- What did the Digital Health Test Beds do?

What were the Digital Health Test Beds?

From 2018 to 2021, the Australian Digital Health Agency (the Agency) funded a research program to pilot new digitally enabled models of care through partnerships between industry, government and healthcare provider organisations. This program, named the Digital Health Test Beds, funded 15 test beds — exploratory research projects in which new innovations and ideas are tested in real-world settings. Unlike traditional research methods that conduct evaluations in highly controlled environments, test beds are designed to work at the coalface — on the frontlines where healthcare is delivered — and pilot solutions that are immediately usable by health workers and administrators in the real world.

Figure 1: The spread of Digital Health Test Beds across Australia



Note: Some test beds were implemented across multiple states and territories

What did the Digital Health Test Beds do?

The Digital Health Test Beds aimed to solve Australia's highest priority health challenges. Each test bed was independently managed and executed in a diverse range of settings, including general practice, pharmacy, specialist care, aged care and in the community. They were divided into two streams of work: technical test beds and implementation test beds.

Technical test beds

Technical test beds related to the development and evaluation of digital health solutions. These can be divided into three sub-categories. The first category comprised three test beds which addressed key **software interoperability and usability challenges**. These test beds focused on:

- Supporting the integration of My Health Record with existing hospital and state systems used by Rapid Access Cardiology Clinic specialists in Western Sydney.
- Developing functionality to enable GPs to view differences between a patient's Shared Health Summary and their local record (in the GP's clinical information system), easily update a patient's Shared Health Summary and view a patient timeline of key events.
- Evaluating the clinical and financial feasibility of a digital platform that collates and displays a historical record of pathology test results.

The second category consisted of three test beds developing mobile solutions that put **health in patients' hands**. These test beds focused on:

- Further prototyping a mobile app and portal designed to simplify a patient's experience during treatment for pancreatic cancer.
- Piloting a solution for collecting actionable patience experience insights in a clinical (hospital) setting.
- Digitising the advance care planning process and linking Advance Care Directives with My Health Record.

The final category consisted of two test beds developing infrastructure to enable the use of **data for research and public health purposes**. These test beds focused on:

- Developing two diabetes monitoring dashboards to inform the provision of diabetes care, public health campaigns and research in Western Sydney.
- Developing a decision support tool to predict the risk of hospital presentation based on patient data within a GP's clinical information system and Shared Health Summary.

You can find a report summarising each of the technical test beds in Section 1.

Implementation test beds

Implementation test beds explored the implementation of new, digital ways of working in healthcare settings. These can also be divided into two sub-categories. The first category was made up of four test beds which piloted ways to **improve the accessibility and adoption of digital health services**. These test beds focused on:

- Evaluating whether a digital platform could help hospital pharmacists perform quicker and more accurate medicine reconciliations during admission.
- Piloting a community pharmacy medicine reconciliation service which integrated with the Discharge Summary on My Health Record.
- Piloting a digital platform that allowed healthcare professionals in a hospital to email/SMS tailored health resources to their patients.
- Rolling out an app and portal which enabled patients with chronic illness to connect their health data with their digital health ecosystem and care team.

The second category contained three test beds which explored barriers and enablers to **implementing Agency initiatives within less digitally mature settings**. These test beds focused on:

- Identifying barriers and enablers to implementing My Health Record in Queensland correctional centres.
- Piloting training, education and support approaches to increase uptake and use of My Health Record and Secure Message Delivery in the aged care sector.
- Piloting training, education and support approaches to increase uptake and use of My Health Record and Secure Message Delivery among private specialists.

You can find a report summarising each of the implementation test beds in Section 2.

Location and timeframe

Collectively, the Digital Health Test Beds were deployed in seven Australian states and territories. Contracting with project teams was finalised in mid-2018 and test bed work commenced shortly thereafter. As each test bed was different in complexity, they met their objectives and closed out at different times between October 2019 and June 2021.

SECTION 1 Technical test beds

This section looks at:

Software interoperability and usability

- Integrating My Health Record in outpatient cardiology clinics to improve quality of care
- Enhanced view of the Shared Health Summary on My Health Record
- Aggregating historical pathology results into one digital platform to reduce inefficiencies

Health in patients' hands

- Prototyping a mobile app for people with pancreatic cancer
- Piloting clinical administration of a digital patient experience measure in cancer care
- Digitising and linking Advance Care Directives with My Health Record

Data for research and public health purposes

- Developing the Western Sydney Diabetes Data Hub
- Developing an algorithm predicting risk of unplanned hospitalisation

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY AND USABILITY

Integrating My Health Record in outpatient cardiology clinics to improve quality of care

Introduction Background

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in Australia¹. However, while chest pain is one of the most common symptoms of acute coronary syndrome (ACS) and one of the most common reasons for presenting to emergency departments, only a small percentage of these cases are due to ACS². In response to this issue, a new model of care, the Rapid Access Cardiology Clinic (RACC), has been established in Australia.

RACCs are cardiologist-led outpatient clinics located in hospitals that provide cardiovascular risk assessment and management of patients presenting with low- to intermediate-risk chest pain³. The RACC model of care manages the immediate needs of referred patients but refers patients back to their GP for long-term management. While there are many newly established RACCs in Australia, they operate independently.

Currently, clinicians at the RACC in Westmead Hospital access patients' electronic medical records through a Cerner Millennium Powerchart portal, which is also able to link with NSW's HealtheNet and the My Health Record (MHR) platform. Using this data to triage patients at referral could help to identify higher risk patients for more effective short- and long-term care.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with The University of Sydney and Westmead Hospital to investigate how MHR can support the RACC model of cardiovascular care. This test bed ran from June 2018 to December 2020.

Aims

This test bed initially aimed to identify gaps in cardiovascular risk assessment and leverage electronic data from the MHR platform to optimise cardiovascular disease patient management in Western Sydney. However, due to technical challenges and the impact of COVID-19, the project scope was revised to:

- Understand barriers to the seamless flow of information across the patient journey and between healthcare professionals.
- 2. Identify barriers to integrating the RACC with MHR.
- Integrate the MHR platform into the routine care received by patients visiting the RACC at Westmead Hospital, by enabling RACC clinicians to upload RACC Specialist Letters to MHR.

Methods

Design and participants

Phase 1 (Data availability audit)

To address the first aim, the project team conducted a data availability audit at the RACC at Westmead Hospital. This audit manually compared 200 patient records from the local, Cerner-based electronic medical record with each patient's MHR. The audits also recorded whether it would be possible to use the information from both these sources to calculate two commonly used cardiovascular disease risk scores: the Australian Absolute Cardiovascular Disease Risk (ACVDR) and the History, ECG, Age, Risk factors, and Troponin (HEART) Score.

Further details on audit methodology have been reported elsewhere⁴ by the project team.

Phase 2 (Identifying barriers)

To address the second aim, a technical review was conducted in the RACC at Westmead Hospital to determine the interoperability of RACC systems with MHR.

Qualitative interviews were also conducted to understand perceptions of and engagement with MHR, and to identify barriers to integrating MHR with the RACC. Eight consumers (aged between 38 and 74 years) who had visited RACC were interviewed by phone about their perceptions of and experiences with digital health tools and MHR specifically. Four RACC clinicians were also interviewed by phone to understand their engagement with MHR and how it could be used in cardiology care in western Sydney.

Finally, key stakeholders, including RACC clinicians, eHealth NSW, Western Sydney Local Health District Digital Health Solutions (WSLHD DHS) and the Agency, were regularly consulted to further understand workflow, interoperability and conformance barriers, and identify potential solutions.

Phase 3 (Developing the RACC Specialist Letter)

To address the third and final aim, the project team worked with eHealth NSW and WSLHD DHS to develop a new document type for the MHR platform compatible with the RACC model of care. This phase incorporated learnings from the previous phases in terms of including the key variables identified in Phase 1 for enabling effective communication between RACC and other healthcare providers and overcoming barriers identified in Phase 2. The resulting document type, the RACC Specialist Letter, was designed to support patient care across cardiology settings and integrate MHR with the RACC model of care.

Research ethics approval

Received from the WSLHD Human Research Ethics Committee for work conducted in Phases 1 and 2.

Results

Phase 1: Data availability audit

The data availability audit found that patients' MHR did not contain enough and the correct types of data to calculate either ACVDR or HEART risk scores. More information has been published by the project team⁴.

Phase 2: Identifying barriers and enablers

The technical review found that the RACC at Westmead Hospital was not interoperable with MHR and was unable to upload any data to the platform.

Findings from the qualitative interviews with consumers showed that although none were currently actively engaging with MHR, they were receptive to using it and were aware of its potential utility in being able to access previously collected information. Consumers regarded MHR as particularly useful for tracking medicines. However, a majority also expressed concerns about the privacy of their health information. The consumers interviewed also demonstrated a general lack of digital health technology adoption, but they had also experienced telehealth appointments because of COVID-19 and were generally positive about them, particularly for routine appointments.

All clinicians interviewed had used the MHR platform at least once, and three out of four reported using it to look at all patients coming from hospital settings outside of WSLHD. These clinicians noted that MHR was useful to build a patient history, but also that it was not the only source they drew upon. As with consumers, there was consensus amongst clinicians that there is future utility in MHR and that it could be useful for pathology and diagnostic imaging. However, they also perceived that MHR did not contain information relevant to specialist needs and that specialists had not been engaged with about MHR.

Figure 2: The RACC Specialist Letter

-		Patient Health Record	Name:	CAGE, LUKE	_	
			DOB:	01/03/1980	Sex:	Male
			ADDRESS:	23 Marvel Lane Parramatta, NSV	2150	
GOVER	NMENT He	alth	AUID:	1004028926		
			MRN:	4718275		
Encounter	Type: Outpatie	nt				
Facility:	Westmead Hos	pital				
Admission:	26/04/2021	10:31 AEST				
Discharge:	26/04/2021	23:59 AEST				

DOCUMENT NAME: SERVICE DATE/TIME: RESULT STATUS: PERFORM INFORMATION: SIGN INFORMATION: RACC Specialist Letter 08/06/2021 09:43 AEST Auth (Verified) Cruz,Rommel (08/06/2021 09:44 AEST) Cruz,Rommel (08/06/2021 09:44 AEST)

Dear MICHAEL FOSTER

LUKE CAGE was seen in the WE C.Cardiology (Westmead Hosp). Please see management plan, recommendations and risk factors below. RACC Specialist Letter Sent 08/06/2021 09:44

Please contact me if you have any questions about the management recommended for this patient.

Yours Sincerely,

Name: Rommel Cruz Contact#: Provider#:

The interviews and consultation process also identified the following barriers to integrating MHR with the RACC:

- While quick technical solutions that adapt existing interfaces and architecture would be cost-effective, they would not overwhelmingly improve patient safety and hence low clinician uptake was anticipated.
- Existing document types on MHR (e.g. the Discharge Summary) could not be used for the RACC model of care as they contain mandatory fields not used by RACC clinicians. Having to manually "delete" these fields would negatively impact clinician workflow.

Phase 3: Developing the RACC Specialist Letter

During consultations, eHealth NSW proposed that the RACC model of care could be a case study and Proof of Concept site for piloting digitisation of specialist letter templates. The project team collaborated with WSLHD DHS and eHealth NSW to map out communications pathways for RACC and requirements for a digital solution within these pathways. These were designed to involve MHR, leverage the existing work of eHealth NSW, and adhere to the principles of quality, safety and efficiency of cardiology services.

With this as context, the RACC Specialist Letter document type for MHR was successfully developed and soft launched (technical go-live) in December 2020. The RACC Specialist Letter (Figure 2) is interoperable with the local hospital EMR, state-wide HealtheNet and national MHR. Final responsibility for the RACC Specialist Letter implementation process was handed over to WSLHD DHS.

Following the close of the test bed, the RACC Specialist Letter was launched into production on 5 July 2021. In the month following 94 letters arrived in HealtheNet. 54 of these are in MHR, including being sent to GP brokers via the secure messaging system.

Discussion

Learnings

Overall, this test bed achieved its rescoped aims. It successfully generated an improved understanding of the current use of MHR in cardiovascular disease management, as well as the feasibility of using MHR data for public health (in this case, to support continuity of cardiovascular care). The value of prioritising user experience when designing digital health technologies – including that of both consumers and healthcare professionals – was also identified. Finally, a technical solution to support the integration of MHR with the RACC model of care was developed and successfully launched. As of July 2021, the RACC Specialist Letter has been integrated into RACC workflow. The Letter template will be rolled out by the WSLHD DHS to all outpatient services in WSLHD and Nepean Blue Mountains.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Explore how electronic health records may support telehealth in and beyond the RACC model of care.
- Use of MHR data for research and public health purposes remains promising and further investigations of cardiovascular risk assessment with MHR data should be conducted once this is possible.

The project team also separately identified recommendations for the Agency related to MHR improvements.

Conclusion

This test bed provided nuanced understanding of the role MHR could have in improving the quality, safety and efficiency of cardiology services. Mixed research methods identified barriers and enablers to using MHR and digital health technologies to triage patients and improve communication pathways between healthcare professionals in a cardiovascular care setting.

A new document type in MHR that is interoperable with state and hospital systems was then developed to support the delivery of critical patient data from hospital RACC clinicians to community healthcare providers, enabling a more seamless continuity of care.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY AND USABILITY

Enhanced view of the Shared Health Summary on My Health Record

Introduction

Background

The Shared Health Summary (SHS) is a key clinical document on My Health Record (MHR) that represents a patient's health at a moment in time. However, currently it is difficult to link the SHS with many of the clinical software (such as clinical information systems) that GPs use, and a GP has no easy way of comparing the information in MHR and what is in their own system.

The POLAR (POpulation Level Analysis and Reporting) System is a clinical Business Intelligence (BI) and analytics platform that integrates data from multiple clinical software to provide GPs and Primary Health Networks (PHNs) with clinical insights.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Outcome Health, the service provider of the POLAR System, to develop new functionality that would improve a POLAR System user's interaction with MHR. This would enable them to see any differences, more easily update the patient's SHS on a regular basis and ensure they have a complete patient record. This test bed ran from June 2018 to June 2020.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- 1. Create an improved view of the MHR SHS for the POLAR System.
- Develop POLAR functionality that shows differences in clinical information between a patient's MHR and their local patient record (on their clinical information system).
- Develop patient timeline functionality for POLAR that shows when a patient has visited a GP and key events across time e.g. reason for the visit, medication and diagnostic discrepancies, pathology requests.

Methods

Design

An agile design methodology was used to develop and build the technology required. The frontend design changed significantly throughout the project based on user feedback. Training in POLAR was provided by the PHNs, with a training page developed on how to find the new functionality.

User testing was conducted with GPs at three practices in the CESPHN.

Participants

Practices were recruited via Central Eastern Sydney Public Health Network (CESPHN). There was no individual patient recruitment undertaken: use of the tool in 'testing mode' was at the discretion of the GP under agreement with CESPHN. Several other PHNs provided input to the project (Gippsland PHN, South Eastern Melbourne PHN and Eastern Melbourne PHN).

Research ethics approval

The POLAR system has standing ethics that covers the collection and storage of data from general practice.

Results

The following was achieved:

- New POLAR functionality (Figure 3) that shows differences in clinical information between a patient's MHR SHS and their local patient record.
- Patient timeline functionality for POLAR (Figure 4) that shows when a patient has visited a GP and key events across time.

Fa value is highlighted for the Clinical System then System	this item does not appear in the Shared H	ealth Summary. Conversely, if an item is highlighted for the S	hared Health Summary then that item is not in the Clin				
Clinical System		Shared Health Summary	Shared Health Summary				
Allercy	Reaction	Allerqy	Resulian Urhana				
PENCILLIN	USTICASIA	Periolin					
PENICILIN	HALLCINATION	Periolin	Heliusnation				
Clinical System		Shared Health Summary					
Disgnosis		e Diagnesis	Date				
COVID-15 EXPOSURE		0-05-12 COVID-19 exposure	2626-05-				
GEPRESSION		3-12-01 Depression	2015-12-				
ISCHA-MIC HEART DISEASE		3-03-01 Ischaemic heart disease	2013-03				
HYPERUP DARMIA		8-03-01 Hyperlipidsemia	2018-03-				
PARKINSON'S DISEASE		Parkinson's bisease	2012-05-				
CATASACT		0-10-01 Bilateral Cataract	2010-10-				
MEMORY LOSS		9-03-01 Memory loss	2009-03-				
OSTEOPOROSIS		9-02-01 Osteoporosis	2006-02-				
HYPERTENSION		5-10-01 Hypertension	2008-10-				
Clinical System			Shared Health Summary NOTE: We are only comparing the medication name and not the dose of				
Medication Name	Directions	directions.					
Actonel 30mg Tablet	1 Once a week	Medication Name	Directions				
Avanza 45mg Tablet	1 In the evening	Actonel 30mg Tablet	Tablet Once a week				
Awapro HCT 300/12.5 300mg 12.5mg Tablet	1 Daily	Avenze 45 ng Tablet	Tablet In the evening				
Crestor 20mg Tablet	1 Daily	Avepro HCT 303/12.5 300mg 12.5mg Tables	1 Tablet Daily				
Madopar 200mg/S0mg Tablet	1 Three times a day	Crestor 20mg Tablet	a Tablet Daily				
Mondur (20mg Tablet	1 Daily	Madoper 200mg:50mg Tablet	1 Tablet Three times a day				
Monowsc 22mg Solution for injection	Not Specified	Monodur 120mg Tablet	Tablet Daily				

Figure 3: Viewing a patient's MHR SHS against their local record on POLAR

Figure 4: A Summary View of a Patient Timeline on POLAR



Results from user testing suggested that most GPs would find these functionalities beneficial, and they would encourage GPs to update records on their local system and then upload a corrected SHS. It was noted that this platform would especially benefit doctors new to a practice who are familiarising themselves with patients.

Discussion

Learnings

This test bed demonstrates that software functionality to compare information in a patient's SHS on MHR and their GP's local clinical information system is useful for GPs and should lead to improvements in the quality of content stored in the SHS.

However, a number of issues relating to the recording of medications for the SHS remain and need to be resolved for this to be useful to practitioners. These include:

- Different format of medication details: Data is not being split into individual fields (specifically medication dose and frequency) when uploaded to the SHS. Further compounding this issue is that the field is populated in a different order and format depending on which software package (e.g. Best Practice, Medical Director, Zedmed) uploads the SHS. This meant that it was only possible to compare the medication name, not the dose or directions.
- Different naming conventions: The medications uploaded to the SHS use a mix of generic and brand names and at the time of the test bed, there was no specific protocol on how this should be handled within a SHS. It currently relies on the local GP system input.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Promote adoption of standards, such as the Australian Medicines Terminology, for consistency in medications terminology (e.g. standardise the use of generic or specific brand names) to enable a consistent upload format into the SHS from GP clinical information systems.
- Determine how tools like this can be more efficiently integrated into clinician workflow for maximum uptake, such as by minimising the number of clicks and actions required to use.

The project team also separately identified recommendations for the Agency related to MHR improvements.

Conclusion

Through this test bed a solution that simplifies and contextualises information about a GP's patient in their MHR was developed. All 1,000+ practices using the POLAR System now have access to components of this solution, improving data quality flow across the Australian health system.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY AND USABILITY

Aggregating historical pathology results into one digital platform to reduce inefficiencies

Introduction Background

Due to an ageing population and the increasing prevalence of chronic disease, the demand for pathology tests is projected to increase⁵. However, a recent review suggests that diagnostic tests are currently over-ordered at rates ranging from 10–64%⁶. Digital health technologies, particularly clinical decision support systems⁷ and electronic medical records⁸, have the potential to reduce unnecessary diagnostic testing and improve other metrics of patient care.

However, there are still numerous barriers to incorporating fragmented pathology data in one central source. There are variations in how different pathology laboratories report their results, for example in structure and coding categories⁹, as well as measurement units and formatting¹⁰. Furthermore, the challenge in automating patient matching across electronic and paper reports and across different pathology providers means that currently there is no central source of aggregated historical pathology test data for Australian public health providers.

Due to the large number of different diagnostic tests (10,000 and growing) and the challenges in data standardisation and patient matching, any solution for aggregating historical pathology data would have to be interoperable and accommodate variability in data, terminology, and patient matching. In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Kabisa Medical (a Western Australian digital health service provider) to explore a solution that has addressed many of these issues. This test bed ran from June 2018 to March 2020.

Aims

This test bed aimed to identify the clinical and financial value of using an online system (myPathology) to collate and display historical pathology test results from 2005 to the present day, from multiple diagnostic providers, to support clinical decision-making in an outpatient setting.

Methods

Design

Specialists and GPs at four research sites (one GP clinic, two specialist clinics and one metropolitan hospital outpatient department) were given seven months' access to myPathology. Four pilot research activities were planned to address study aims. These included:

- Clinician surveys relating to care provision and impact of myPathology, administered during the period they were given access to myPathology.
- A comparison of MBS pathology spending data for the hospital study site between September to December 2019 (when myPathology was in use) and the corresponding months in the year prior (September to December 2018).
- Patient surveys relating to their experience with blood test results and attitudes towards health data privacy, administered before they were given access to myPathology.
- Patient surveys relating to their experience with using myPathology, administered after they were given access to myPathology.



Figure 5: Viewing historical pathology test results on myPathology

Data collection was conducted between August 2019 and March 2020. Due to the increased demands on the medical sector because of the COVID-19 pandemic, the post-implementation patient and clinician surveys were unable to be administered and the trial was closed in March 2020.

Participants

This study was conducted in multiple healthcare settings in Western Australia, with participants recruited from all four research sites. 113 patients responded to the baseline patient survey and 21 clinicians to the clinician survey (18 specialists and 3 GPs). The follow-up surveys did not proceed due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research ethics approval

This test bed was assessed as a quality improvement activity through the Governance, Evidence, Knowledge, and Outcomes (GEKO) framework¹¹ and was approved by the South Metropolitan Health Service.

Results Clinician survey

Clinician survey results show that using an online data platform that aggregates historical pathology results could lead to benefits in reduced time wastage, fewer follow-up appointments, less unnecessary duplication of tests and earlier initiation of treatment. Specialist physicians reported experiencing greater benefits than GPs and reported more positive outcomes. When historical data was available on myPathology, 95% of clinicians reported it saved them time in clinic, with specialist physicians reporting it saved them an average of 16 minutes per clinic.

81% of clinicians also reported ordering fewer pathology tests due to having access to historical pathology data through myPathology. Specialist physicians reported requesting an average of 8.3 fewer tests per clinic, and GPs reported requesting an average of 2 fewer tests per clinic. 72% of specialist physicians reported being able to initiate treatment sooner on patients due to access to historical pathology results, and a mean of 2.4 patients were reported as starting treatment sooner per specialist clinic. 67% of specialists reported reduced need to bring patients back to clinic and on average one fewer patient was required to return per specialist clinic.

Finally, while only 22% of specialists used My Health Record at the time of surveying, 78% expressed that they would include My Health Record in their workflow if a tool like myPathology were to be a My Health Record feature.

Comparison of MBS pathology spending

MBS pathology spending in the hospital study site between September to December 2019 was \$69,014 (corresponding to 4,059 tests). In comparison, MBS pathology spending in that site between September to December 2018 was \$190,153 (corresponding to 7,924 tests). While other external factors could also have contributed to this decrease in pathology spending, this suggests that a system like myPathology could bring benefits to clinicians and healthcare services.

Patient surveys

Finally, baseline patient survey results suggest that while patients getting blood tests generally prioritised convenience, a subset (35%) had spent extra time travelling to their hospital's pathology provider of choice. Furthermore, 14% of patients reported having experienced their doctor being unable to locate previous test results, with 4 patients repeating tests as a result. 64% of patients felt that doctors in their care team should have access to their medical test results, whilst 53% thought this should apply to other healthcare professionals (such as allied health professionals). 75% felt they should also be able to electronically access their own test results.

Discussion

Learnings

The findings of this test bed suggest that a digital platform that integrates historical pathology test results with new test results and displays them over time in a way that is searchable and easy to understand would be useful to specialist physicians, GPs and consumers. GPs and specialists reported that tools like myPathology saved them time and made it easier to locate past test results, with specialists saying they ordered less tests as a result. While data transfer between pathology providers and myPathology was conducted manually during this pilot, which limited the size of the test bed, in the future this process could be automated with an application programming interface for large volume data transfers.

The test bed also demonstrates that despite significant data and terminology variations between pathology providers, pathology data can be effectively presented and utilised. These structural variations in the data posed significant technical challenges and required a large allocation of resources to resolve. Given that new diagnostic tests are constantly being developed (e.g. new tests for COVID-19), adopting an approach of presenting pathology data that focuses less on rigid data conformity and more on promoting clinician access, understanding and interpretation via warnings and prompts may be a more practical strategy to utilise the large volume of untapped diagnostic data that currently exists.

This test bed utilised an active patient consent process which allowed patients to directly request their historical pathology results. Active engagement of patients in their own care and self-management¹² is well documented to improve patient outcomes and enable more personalised care plans. This should also include diagnostic and pathology data. Fully integrating such technologies into the Australian health care system could place patients closer to clinicians and as more equal participants in their healthcare and promote shared decision-making¹³.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Establish clear guidance for pathology and diagnostic providers for automated data transfer and auditing (e.g. results display, cybersecurity standards) to improve health service and pathology provider confidence.
- Explore avenues (policy included) to incentivise digital health practices, such as the use of pre-existing atomic data in clinical decision-making or the integration of test result delivery (to either the patient's electronic device or their My Health Record) into the scope of diagnostic services.

Conclusion

Overall, the findings of this test bed provide initial evidence for the clinical and financial feasibility of deploying technologies like myPathology in healthcare settings and the improvement in patient and cost outcomes these technologies could realise. Test bed findings suggest these types of technologies would be acceptable to users, and could improve healthcare efficiencies, engage and empower patients by further democratising patient data, and support the development of clinical decision support tools in the future.

HEALTH IN PATIENTS' HANDS

Prototyping a mobile app for people with pancreatic cancer

Introduction

Background

Pancreatic cancer is one of the top ten most common cancers in Australia, with five-year survival rates as low as 11%¹⁴. In 2018, pancreatic cancer was the fourth most common cause of cancer deaths in Australia, with an estimated 3,300 Australians dying from the disease and 3,933 new cases diagnosed¹⁴. Due to the disease's rapid development and sudden changes in symptoms, having a well-managed and well-monitored treatment plan is vital.

Mobile apps could enable consumers to more easily record their own health data and provide this to practitioners in near real time. This could improve the patient experience, allow practitioners to respond to sudden changes in symptoms, and provide patients with greater access to their treatment plan. This could potentially improve survivorship and demonstrate how digital tools can improve the model of care for all cancer patients. In the longer term, large quantities of patient-generated data could also provide valuable new insights into the disease and potentially lead to the development of new treatment plans.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Bilue (a mobile and emerging technology company), Avner Pancreatic Cancer Foundation and SAP Software Solutions. This test bed was supported by industryleading partners and Sydney's Royal North Shore Hospital (RNSH) and ran from November 2018 to March 2020.

Aims

This test bed aimed to simplify a patient's experience during treatment for pancreatic cancer and increase their adherence to their treatment plan through:

 Providing a mobile application (PanCan – the Pancreatic Cancer Companion App) for a patient to view, track and record their prescribed treatment plan. Providing clinicians with a portal to create and review the patient's adherence to their treatment plan. In addition to the data provided by the patient, this would leverage My Health Record (MHR) and electronic medical record data to provide a holistic overview of the patient's health.

Methods

Design

Prior to the initial project submission, Bilue had already worked in collaboration with its partners to develop designs of a digital solution for people with pancreatic cancer. The project would undertake further discovery work to finalise the design, build the solution and conduct a six-month closed pilot with real users. If successful, a national rollout plan would be developed.

The digital solution initially consisted of the following key components:

- Patient-facing mobile application.
- Clinician-facing web portal.
- Clinician-facing secure patient messaging mobile application.
- SAP Health Patient Engagement.

Delays were experienced in getting agreement amongst numerous clinical stakeholders for the desired functionality, concerns over medicolegal implications and having to meet all required security, privacy and ethical requirements. The MHR mobile gateway also paused taking on new entrants in August 2018 and reopened in early 2020, so the planned integration could not go ahead. Hence, it was agreed to descope the clinician-facing secure patient messaging mobile application and any integration with My Health Record. A working version of the digital solution was completed and in February 2020 it was agreed to progress with running the closed trial at the RNSH. However, the COVID-19 pandemic led to all work halting and the test bed officially closing in March 2020.

Participants

The key user groups were clinicians involved in the treatment of pancreatic cancers and patients with Stage 1 pancreatic cancer.

Patients were to be recruited through The Australian Pancreatic Centre at RNSH for the initial trial.

Research ethics approval

The ethics approval process was underway in early 2020 but was halted with the close of the test bed.

Results

This test bed further developed the PanCan app and portal through collaborative design with clinicians and patients. Due to the disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, it did not proceed to implementation.

Discussion

Learnings

Like many projects in 2020, this test bed was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and unable to move into implementation. Whilst a working product using a collaborative design method was achieved, getting to an agreed design took much longer than originally envisaged due to the complexities of the health sector. Medical practitioners and professionals raised concerns about medicolegal frameworks and how they might be applied regarding the collection of 'real time' patient data and analytics. As medicine is a time-poor setting, medical practitioners were wary of malpractice suits if they did not respond straight away to real time data submitted by a patient. A level of consent would be required from patients that would protect doctors from this expectation.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and the Agency:

- Engage early and consistently with Local Health Districts to promote local buy-in.
- Explore development of a Digital Health Security Framework to address requirements specific to data privacy and security for mobile health apps.
- Explore development of guidelines for medicolegal issues associated with real-time messaging in digital health technologies, that can provide a suggested patient consent model and clinical governance framework.

Conclusion

Many consumers are now taking care management into their own hands by downloading apps that are freely available, even if these have not been clinically assessed as suitable. The health sector faces a challenge in catching up with this demand, and the development of new national frameworks and guidelines may be required to support it.

HEALTH IN PATIENTS' HANDS

Piloting clinical administration of a digital patient experience measure in cancer care

Introduction Background

In 2016–17, 1,228,905 cancer-related hospitalisations were reported nationally, which represented one in nine hospitalisations that year¹⁵. The same report estimated that 144,713 new cases of cancer (excluding basal and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin as they are not notifiable diseases) would be diagnosed in Australia in 2019, i.e., approximately 396 cases diagnosed each day.

Patient-Reported Experience Measures (PREMs) are increasingly recognised as important quality improvement tools that can support patientcentred cancer care. PREMs quantify the patient experience, such as communication and shared decision-making, and articulate patients' perceptions of the way services are designed, integrated, accessed and delivered. This includes whether services meet their needs. There is compelling evidence that incorporation of PREMs into routine clinical practice, and timely response to this feedback, improves clinical outcomes as well as overall quality and safety of care delivery at similar or reduced cost¹⁶. However, paper-based collection methods of PREMs are often expensive to conduct, have higher rates of errors, and require a significant amount of time to process. Digital collection methods would improve this and hopefully increase patient engagement with PREMs while they are outside the hospital.

To support this, The Clinician (a technology provider) developed the electronic Actionable Patient Perspectives (eAPP) module within the ZEDOC platform (Figure 6). ZEDOC is a cloud-based healthcare platform that digitises the process of collecting patient data, from inviting patients to provide data to analysis and conversion into actionable insights. For example, eAPP can be configured to trigger an automated alert to a patient's assigned clinician whenever the patient reports their physical needs were not met or when their condition severely deteriorates. Each of these rules can trigger their own set of notifications, allowing different members of the clinical care team to have separate alerts with different protocols in place. These alerts can also flow onto other health information systems such as electronic health records.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Princess Alexandra Hospital (PAH) and The Clinician to pilot the use of the ZEDOC platform in a cancer care environment. This test bed ran from June 2018 to December 2020.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- Deploy a software solution (the eAPP module within the ZEDOC platform) to collect PREMs information from cancer patients treated in the Division of Cancer Services, PAH, and turn them into actionable alerts.
- 2. Iteratively develop a pathway for onboarding PAH cancer patients onto eAPP and ZEDOC.

Figure 6: eAPP and the ZEDOC platform



Methods

Design

The pre-implementation phase consisted of the following main activities: software development and testing, software configuration (of a knowledge base of rules tailored for the Division of Cancer Services, PAH), software deployment, staff training, and an initial in-clinic validation trial with a limited patient cohort. Healthcare professional and patient insights were collected and used to refine the patient onboarding process for implementation.

Patients were asked to complete the PRE-C questionnaire. PRE-C quantifies patient experience in cancer and takes about 15 minutes to complete on a tablet. Validation of the PRE-C was conducted across multiple studies and sites in Australia and New Zealand, with results finding an overall good model fit with good reliability and validity¹⁷. Publication of further results by the PRE-C team is underway. In the implementation phase, eAPP data was collected at PAH from October to November 2020. Patients could choose to complete questionnaires with either in-clinic devices or their own personal devices. Those choosing the latter were sent a link to complete the questionnaire via email and SMS.

Feedback was collected from healthcare professional users on technology usability, issues encountered, the data collection process and ease of patient recruitment (relative to earlier implementations of PRE-C via the ZEDOC platform). General feedback on completing questionnaires on eAPP was also collected from patients.

Participants

During implementation, 118 patients were recruited for the study from PAH and one of their out-clinic settings.

Research ethics approval

Received from the Metro South Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

95 patients completed the PRE-C digitally, with 39 doing so on an in-clinic device and 56 doing so remotely via their personal device (resulting in a 78% remote questionnaire completion rate). The patients who opted for the in-house device tended to be aged over 65 years.

The PAH clinical manager responsible for ongoing recruitment reported overall positive feedback from patients. Similarly, overall positive feedback was reported from clinical staff. They found that the addition of the remote completion option enabled quicker recruitment and completions, as well as this being safer and less onerous for staff due to less time spent handling and cleaning inclinic devices.

Preliminary evidence was also collected that showed eAPP and the ZEDOC platform was an effective and efficient way to notify clinical teams of who require attention from a patient experience point of view.

Discussion

Learnings

The process of administering PREMs via mobile devices and integrating this into clinical and administrative workflows in a hospital cancer care unit was developed and refined over this test bed, with the final process and questionnaire found to be acceptable by patients and clinical staff. The use of automatic reminders through email or SMS also helped support patients to complete questionnaires outside the clinical setting. More broadly, this test bed demonstrated the feasibility of digitising PREM collection processes in a way that is highly automatable and tailored to the clinical context of a typical cancer care unit. In particular, the smooth and rapid recruitment in the one-month implementation period indicates the ability for this or similar technologies to scale out to other hospitals and clinics in the Metro South Health catchment. In doing so, consideration must be given to practices that may make scaling up easier, for example minimising the number of disparate information systems at a state or national level.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

• Have appropriate onboarding/introduction of patients to ensure patient retention.

Conclusion

The findings support the technical and clinical feasibility of applying this technological solution more widely across hospitals in Australia and of incorporating a wider variety of patient-reported experience and outcome measures.

At the close of this test bed, the project team was in the process of preparing to deploy eAPP for other clinical use cases, including the implementation of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) and remote symptom monitoring (i.e. from wearables) at PAH. More broadly, further integrations of technologies like eAPP and the ZEDOC platform with other clinical systems (e.g. for dispensing medication) could support early intervention and the delivery of more comprehensive and patient-centred care.

HEALTH IN PATIENTS' HANDS

Digitising and linking Advance Care Directives with My Health Record

Introduction

Background

Presently, most of those who die in Australia do not receive end-of-life care that meets their needs and preferences. Only 25% of Australians have formally documented their end-of-life preferences¹⁸, resulting in ambiguity in their wishes for care.

An Advance Care Directive (ACD) is a formal document that records a person's directions for their future care and treatment. However, there are low rates of completion of these typically paper documents in Australia¹⁸. To support advance care planning, GP Partners Australia (a not-for-profit organisation supporting GPs across South Australia) developed, maintained and distributed a Patient Purple Hand-held Record (the 'Purple Book'). The Purple Book is a physical information pack that aims to provide all GPs and health providers caring for a palliative patient (or a patient facing end-of-life) in South Australia with key information, including their ACD, 7-step resuscitation plan, GP information, allergies and medication summary, prescribing protocols and important contact information.

Like the Purple Book, most advance care planning processes are largely paper based. Moving them to a digital platform could potentially deliver a number of benefits, such as increasing the numbers of people documenting their end-of-life preferences, improving awareness amongst the individual's care team of an ACD being in existence and reducing the number of people dying in a place not of their own choosing.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with GP Partners Australia to develop a digitally enabled platform for aged care residents and older South Australians in the wider community. This would allow them to complete a personal ACD. This test bed ran from June 2018 to March 2021.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- 1. Digitise the Purple Book.
- 2. Streamline the patient interface with My Health Record (MHR) via a user-friendly user interface.
- **3.** Enable patients to conveniently upload their ACD and resuscitation plan (including hospital transfer preferences) to MHR.

Methods

Design

A Clinical Governance Committee was formed to oversee project development and implementation.

In the project's initial phase, the Purple Book was analysed and discussed from multiple perspectives, including its implementation in electronic form and which features would add value for patients and families. Interviews were held with key stakeholders, including GPs, GP practice managers and Ambulance Services to gather their feedback. Practice workflows were developed and mock-ups were created, translated into prototypes and field-tested.

The MHR mobile gateway paused taking on new entrants in August 2018. This necessitated a change of scope as the app could no longer display information from MHR nor upload directly to MHR. An abridged version of the app was therefore designed, focusing only on creating ACDs and on linking its users to the MyGov login portal (through which MHR could be accessed). The resulting app was named 'ACDCare' (Figure 7).

Figure 7: ACDCare app screenshots

\leftarrow	Advanced Care Directive	Ξ
P	Testperson	01 01
1	Personal Details	
2a	Appointing Substitute Decision-Makers	
2 b	Conditions of Appointment	~
3	What is important to me - My values and wishes	<u> </u>
4	Binding refusals of health care	~
5	Interpreter statement	
6	Giving my Advanced Care Directive	





After successful testing, ACDCare was deployed in the Google Play Store and Apple App Store ready for trial participants to use and evaluate. A web platform was later launched to assist desktopbased users to fill out their ACDs.

COVID-19 impacted implementation and who could be included in the trial (see *Participants* section below) and led to several changes in the evaluation approach. The final evaluation design involved a mixed methods approach, combining a quantitative survey with two qualitative methods (personal interviews and focus groups) to collect user perspectives.

Participants

The initial plan was to implement and evaluate the app in South Australia and Northern Territory across 5-8 GP practices and around 100 users. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 impacting on GPs' ability to participate, as well as travel restrictions, the project was subsequently amended to focus instead on Residential Aged Care Facilities (RACFs) in South Australia. Unfortunately, access to visiting RACFs was also limited due to the pandemic and recruitment proved difficult. The plan was therefore further amended, with a general call out sent to GP Partners Australia's network, as well as to Flinders University researchers, to find volunteers interested in participating in the ACDCare testing and evaluation. These could be any individuals aged 18 and over who lived in South Australia and who had engaged with the ACDCare app.

5 community members participated in the online survey, 11 community members participated in the interview and 10 Flinders University researchers (staff and students) participated in the focus groups.

Research ethics approval

Received from the Human Research Ethics Committee at Flinders University.

Results

Community members and digital researchers felt the app was a good idea and attempted to address barriers to end-of-life planning. The app was found to be attractive, convenient and mostly functional. However, none of the evaluation participants had completed and submitted an ACD form to their MHR by the end of the test bed and multiple usability issues were identified.

A key barrier reported was that individuals are likely to delay their advance care planning documentation, with or without an app, as advance care planning is difficult and uncomfortable. This outcome may be partially a result of the young average age of the evaluation participants, but even older interviewees did not have ACDs in place. The evaluation cohort had a limited understanding of ACDs, and the app was not able to address their questions and concerns about advance care planning.

When asked about using the app in future, younger participants were ambivalent but older participants were mostly united in their intention to use the ACDCare app (or one like it) to document their advance care planning preferences.

Overall, users recognised the importance of advance care planning but would need to see some changes to the app before they would recommend it to others or use it themselves for creating ACDs.

Discussion

Learnings

Whilst an app was delivered that enabled the online creation of ACDs and that successfully facilitated discussion around advance care planning, technical issues meant a fully digitised and streamlined process between the app and MHR could not be achieved and no ACDs were added into an evaluation participant's MHR as a result of this test bed. COVID-19 also significantly impacted who could be recruited in the trial, with many involved in the evaluation being younger than the app's target cohort. The test bed was therefore unable to evaluate many of its original aims, such as seeing if the app would increase the number of South Australians documenting their end-oflife preferences or contribute to a reduction in individuals dying in hospital.

Conclusion

This test bed was unfortunately unable to achieve its original aims due to the impact of COVID-19. However, it demonstrates the potential for advance care planning apps for both older people as well as a younger audience who could be educated about advance care planning when they have fuller capacity and clarity about their personal wishes.

DATA FOR PUBLIC HEALTH AND RESEARCH PURPOSES

Developing the Western Sydney Diabetes Data Hub

Introduction

Background

Diabetes is the fastest growing chronic condition in Australia with approximately one in 20 Australians diagnosed with diabetes¹⁹. Of these, 90% of cases are type 2 diabetes, which is largely preventable. Western Sydney has been identified as a 'hotspot' for diabetes, with 12% of the Western Sydney population estimated as having diabetes and a further 35% being at risk of developing type 2 diabetes²⁰. In response to these challenges over 120 organisations led by Western Sydney Local Health District (WSLHD), WentWest (Western Sydney Primary Health Network), the Department of Planning, Industry, and Environment, PwC Australia and Diabetes NSW/ACT formed an alliance named Western Sydney Diabetes (WSD). The alliance's aim was to 'take the heat' out of the Western Sydney hotspot through a variety of prevention, surveillance and intervention programs.

This test bed ran from July 2018 to October 2019. In this test bed, the Agency partnered with WentWest, WSLHD and PwC Australia to design and develop two data and analytics platforms. They were the Western Sydney Diabetes Interventions Monitoring Platform (Platform 1) and the Dashboards for People with Diabetes (Platform 2).

Platform 1: Western Sydney Diabetes Interventions Monitoring Platform

WSD has a suite of interventions underway across the spectrum of primary prevention for people at risk of diabetes (e.g. GP walking groups) through to secondary prevention and case management of people with diabetes (e.g. routine HbA1c testing and Save a Leg, a 60-second diabetic foot screening tool). At the start of this test bed, these interventions were not monitored consistently. Developing an intervention monitoring platform could enable WSD to evaluate interventions and seek further investment for those interventions proven to work so that they could be taken to scale.

Platform 2: Dashboards for People with Diabetes

While dashboards were already being used within Western Sydney hospitals to support care of patients with diabetes at the start of the test bed, they lacked metrics focused on care quality, care efficiency and data fields that would improve aspects of transfer of care back to the GP following discharge from hospital.

Integrating coded inpatient data to existing dashboards to establish ongoing aggregate analysis of the diabetes population interacting with WSLHD hospitals, and linking this data with external datasets where possible, could support clinical decision-making for improved patient care.

Aims

This test bed aimed to create data and analytics platforms to:

- 1. Monitor WSD's existing suite of diabetes interventions in Western Sydney (Platform 1).
- Use patient-level and population-level data to support clinical management of patients with diabetes in Western Sydney (Platform 2).

Methods Platform design and development

Platform 1

For the design and development of Platform 1, PwC collaborated with stakeholders, clinical experts and platform users to confirm platform design and contents and identified 49 intervention metrics to monitor. A platform configuration period then followed before User Acceptance Testing (UAT) was conducted to ensure the platform would be acceptable to its end users. Collaboration and data sharing agreements (e.g. with intervention providers) were obtained from all relevant parties.

PwC then conducted a Security Architecture Review to ensure the platform complied with all relevant standards and guidelines before ingesting intervention data into the platform and implementing an operating model to support the ongoing maintenance of the platform and regular data refreshes.

Platform 2

As with Platform 1, PwC collaborated with stakeholders, clinical experts and platform users to confirm design and contents for Platform 2 before conducting UAT. WSLHD inpatient data was also linked with two external data sources:

- Public Health Information Development Unit (PHIDU) Social Health Atlas of Australia (specifically data relating to diabetes disease prevalence in Western Sydney).
- Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA)

 Index of Relative Socio-Economic
 Disadvantage and Index of Relative Socio-Economic Advantage and Disadvantage.

Both platforms went live in March 2019.

Research ethics approval

There was no requirement to seek ethical clearance for this test bed as it does not classify as a research study.

Results

Platform 1

The intervention monitoring platform was built and launched in March 2019 for the use of key WSD Alliance members including the Head of Diabetes & Endocrinology and other specialty heads at WSLHD, as well as key managers at WentWest.

The platform is accessed through a secure user portal and contains information on three types, or 'tiers', of metrics:

- Tier 1: Patient level Patient weight and HbA1c test results aggregated by GP cohort.
- Tier 2: Service level Number of GP visits within the last 12 months by patients with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes, and inpatient admissions and ED presentations of people with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes.
- Tier 3: Intervention level Activity and performance of currently running interventions for people at risk of diabetes (primary prevention interventions), as well as those of currently running interventions for people with diabetes (secondary prevention and case management interventions).

The dashboards within the platform have several analytics layers that incorporate a summary view of Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3 metrics. These dashboards highlight trends in the metrics over the last quarter, year to date, and 12-month periods. Users can drill down into each individual metric to see a more detailed view, along with a detailed description of the metric, the source of the data, and prior years (where available).

At the start of this test bed, only 3/49 WSD intervention metrics were centrally monitored. At the close of this test bed this rose to 38/49.

						Primary	Secondary	Favourable	📕 Unfavourable 😐 No data collecter
lier :	3 Measures that are s	pecific to each underlying intervention							
nterv	ention	Key measure	Units	Apr 19	May 19	Jun 19	YTD		12 month trend
S1 ⊒%	HbA1c Testing	Tests in ED - detection	#	2,638	2,694	2.786	16,587	A	
		Tests in GPs	#	-	171K	177K	177K	A	-
s2 ∕₹	Save a Leg	Nurses trained	#	1	0	0	3	V	
	Save a Leg	60 second foot checks	#	-	-	-	-	_	A 5 2
S3 ⊡	Outpatient Clinic	Occasions of service	#	390	283	164	2.110	A	
54	Self-Mgmt App	Patients using application	#	1	1	4	7		•••••
S5		New GP practices participating	#	0	0	0	2	V	
	Joint Specialist	GP practices participating (prop.)	%	13.0	13.0	13.0	12.9		
₩ I	Case	New GPs participating	#	6	3	0	19	V ~~	hard the second
W.C.	Conferencing	GPs participating (prop.)	%	11.7	11.9	11.9	11.3		
		Number of sessions	#	39	25	11	198	V	· · · · · · · · ·

Figure 8: Western Sydney Diabetes Interventions Monitoring Platform (Platform 1) – Tier 3 (intervention level) dashboard

Platform 2

The Dashboards for People with Diabetes were built and launched in March 2019 for the use of the WSLHD Head of Diabetes & Endocrinology, relevant specialists, and members of the Joint Specialist Case Conferencing service offered by WSD.

Each of the dashboards can be filtered for Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes, diabetes in pregnancy and other types of diabetes, as well as other characteristics such as facility, gender and specialist. The dashboards are refreshed each day and display the most recent coded data available.

Three types of data were tracked:

 Tier 1: Patient level – A monthly summary of inpatients with diabetes compared to inpatients without diabetes, including number of admissions, number of complications, average HbA1c and range, length of stay, BMI and demographic information.

- Tier 2: Specialty level A monthly summary of the number of patients with diabetes a specialty has seen and their profile including medications prescribed and rates of complications.
- Tier 3: Population level This dashboard linked to external datasets (PHIDU and SEIFA) to display summary data for diabetes patients by postcode and GP, including diabetes prevalence, socio-economic status, rate of potentially preventable hospitalisations, BMI and rate of in-hospital admissions. It was intended for use by WSD to present to GPs as part of their Joint Specialist Case Conference service, to assist understanding of the health status of their local diabetes population.

Data from the life of this test bed (April to September 2019) shows that these dashboards were accessed approximately once a week (or a mean of 4.3 sessions per month) by team members in the WSLHD Diabetes team. The population health dashboard was accessed more often (mean of 5.2 sessions per month) than the patient- and specialty-focused dashboards (mean of 3.4 sessions per month).



Figure 9: Dashboards for People with Diabetes (Platform 2) – Population-level dashboard

Discussion

Learnings

This test bed aimed to create data & analytics platforms to monitor diabetes in Western Sydney.

For Platform 1, a majority of scoped intervention metrics were able to be integrated into the intervention monitoring platform by the end of the project, however the large number of organisations involved was challenging for the project team to manage. This was especially so for primary prevention interventions as they tended to be from more disparate sources and produce less data than secondary prevention interventions. Irregular intervention schedules also complicated platform development and data integration. Platform 2 successfully brought together patient-, specialty- and population-level data (integrating both WSLHD data and external datasets) into a dashboard for the use of WSLHD Diabetes and WSD staff. Data from the life of the test bed suggests sustained and moderate use over the life of the test bed; however, it is not possible to ascertain whether this use was associated with clinical decision-making. After the close of this test bed, the dashboards have continued to be used by WSD to inform clinical resourcing and remote patient management (particularly during active outbreak situations) in hospitals. They have also been used to make decisions on how best to respond to diabetes in Western Sydney. For example, dashboard insights identified high rates of diabetes in the Filipino community in Western Sydney and prompted the creation of diabetes prevention initiatives led by healthcare professionals working with this community. The infrastructure powering the dashboards, that was set up as part of this test bed, has also provided WSD with an easily accessible and reliable source of important data, such as obesity in the community.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future complex data collaboration projects in healthcare, or other related work, were identified by the project team and include:

- Focus contemporary health data and analytics solutions on decision support to answer the strategic and tactical decisions of healthcare and health systems.
- Clearly articulate the benefits of use of health data for research and public health purposes to each stakeholder.
- Develop a transparent informed consent model tailored to the solution and context of data use.
- Develop legal frameworks that enable contracts to evolve alongside the complex project designs required to achieve complex goals.
- Parties handling personal health information should assess their ability to achieve and maintain compliance to Australian Government information security requirements.

- Establish a robust pilot intervention framework prior to the intervention and take decisive action on whether to adjust, scale or divest from the intervention based on evaluation results.
- Establish a robust data governance model that incorporates data security and privacy principles, decision rights and escalation processes for those handling the data, and an operating model that supports the timely provision of data to inform the strategic and tactical decisions of an individual or organisation.

Conclusion

This test bed developed two new diabetes monitoring platforms on which WSD and WSLHD staff can monitor diabetes interventions and hospital patient metrics. At the conclusion of the test bed, both platforms were handed over to WSD and WSLHD. These platforms continue to be used to this day to inform the provision of diabetes care in hospitals, as well as a wide variety of WSD initiatives, including reporting, diabetes education programs and supporting local GPs in continuous quality improvement.

DATA FOR PUBLIC HEALTH AND RESEARCH PURPOSES

Developing an algorithm predicting risk of unplanned hospitalisation

Introduction

Background

Reduction of avoidable hospital admissions is key to improving quality of life of patients, effectively managing expensive hospital resources and the overall cost to the taxpayer. With the reduction of avoidable hospitalisations as one of the goals for Primary Health Network activities²¹, a clinically evaluated point-of-care mechanism to highlight patients at risk is essential²².

The POLAR (POpulation Level Analysis and Reporting) System is a clinical Business Intelligence (BI) and analytics platform that integrates data from multiple clinical software to provide GPs and Primary Health Networks (PHNs) with clinical insights.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Outcome Health, the service provider of the POLAR System, to design and develop a point of care tool which measures a patient's risk of Emergency Department (ED) presentation based on data in their GP's clinical information system and their My Health Record (MHR) Shared Health Summary. The test bed ran from June 2018 to June 2021.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- 1. Link hospital and GP patient data across several health networks.
- Create a 'hospitalisation risk prediction' algorithm based on GP data and incorporate available MHR data into that algorithm. This would result in a 'live' risk assessment tool (known as 'Diversion + MHR') that calculates and displays a patient's risk of ED presentation within the next 12 months.
- **3.** Release the Diversion + MHR tool to PHNs and GPs using the POLAR System.

Methods

Design

Prior to starting development work, interviews were conducted with three GPs and a practice manager about current tools they use and how this tool could best suit their workflows. Following this, the work packages were categorised into three separate streams:

- Design, look and feel of the report which included the development team working with a small group of GPs to create prototypes of initial designs.
- 2. Development of the technical solution utilising the existing core POLAR architecture.
- Core algorithm development adapted from an existing Outcome Health algorithm. 36 separate variables were fed in, including demographics, lifestyle profile, clinical assessment, service utilisation and MHR interaction. Analysis of algorithm result outliers allowed the team to configure scoring thresholds for the risk categories.

Due to limitations with access to private patient data and the quality of unstructured data fields (e.g. GP diagnosis), extensive data cleaning and redaction techniques were applied before data could be accessed and processed by the POLAR System. During this data cleaning process, substantive Natural Language Processing and machine learning processes were used to enable unstructured data to be transformed into values that could feed the algorithm engine.
	Paleets	aler.	(D Charten	+140-mailton	Angradia to	83 Jarcuat	Pa(+1) 12/4	Aty Defineration.	C that is no				
CLAR	Choose A p	atient to view their	r elsik (7,557 par	tientx)										
	. Failed to only get a characterization program (grant true true have account to a higher $\ $													
RACGP Active													2	
CLICK TO SELECT	Paraentab.	Q. Puthanie	(Table)	Facent Apr	Center	Active Disprime (1,857)	Clahard, Media (1, 694) (Ho	et Sayit Doctin	Q. Edrically	20 dipencial United	Q. Person Status	Q	Interface Diagramme (1,811)	
	31-6477	Generation Hull	11	67	Person	Life Disprover	The Darweit Meets - Cirl	thirtpr	That Percented	New Aborignus Terries Street Inworke	Personal HEE		Infraction Disground	
	D1-19988	Garadgetz	12	78.	Faraia	19th Dispresser	10x Clement Made -		Explor, Bospour	Also Meetiges/Terms Tool Teacher	Pensioner / HCC		As Dractive Diagrammi	
	21-14859	Altern Kineppi,	28	74	Mare	ShaDigreewe	By Darrord Mode - Tell	Sector.	fact Specified	Mercikhorgineg/Terries Bland Dramber	Not Specified		Referative Disgrower	
Loss of Distance	D1-1407	Ershiel Lanson	26	33	Main	17s Diagrament	15 Clearst Meds Dr.1	Inarige	Aurtaban	Also Meetigina/Terms Trad Investor	Penalorwi / HCC		To Diactive Diagramme	
Jrgent Risk	D1-11125	Western Same	13	77	Feranc	The Dispersive	Ballarord Media - Del	thyspi	Not Percented	New Aboriginau Terries Street Dearshit	Personal HEE		Politative Disgresses	
-	21-2918	Taylor Jonacer	33	20	Facula	Pt Dispresses	10x Clanard Meda - See	lense Samu	Australian	Also Also ignal/Terna That Inwider	Persioner Colorestine	Cel	21s Diarthie Diagrammie	
146	pi-attit	dultong Muning	**	54	Fermi	for Dispression	To Darrent Meets - Vela	inting Araul	Fact Percenter	New Aborgmed Terries Street Dearder	Personal HEE		Refractive Disgresses	
140	21-6411	Million Harrison	32	79	Main	11s Dispreses	ILL Clarant Made Mo	rgat Revenue	Customies	Also Abortgina/Terne Titlet Teacher	Penalorw/HCC		11s Dractive Diagramme	
	21-10984	Minacle Rowth	11	77	Feranc	15s Dispressive	13s Darvert Meety Ind	lativ items	distribution.	New Aborgmu/Terries Street Dearable	Personal Concession	Card	All Stattive Dispreses	
	D1-54445	Bryriae Mayer	11	65	Faraia	13 t Dispreses	15 Clearst Media DCI	D:#18+	Aurhähm	Also Abot grad/Terrar Track Fawsher	Persiane Colonada	Cel	de Dractive Diagrosses	
High Risk	01-17878	fiel et anne	24	78	Mati	131Dirg/rown	BK Darrwitt Mada - Vere	entint Area)	Automatian Paciping	Anni Aborghau/Tenne Strad Describe	Paratoriar/HDC		Rollfactive Disgrowed	
	D1-27102	Tarmia Macilia	11	21	Fersik	T0X Diagnoses	Grouners Heat Dis	Islarige	Hot Recordial	Not Specified	Hill Specified		CLD ACTIVE Disproves	
420	D1-3491	Online Types	28	65	Marii	Ba Diegroven	17xConvet Maile Dis	Mo	Australian	Nen Aborgheu/Ten ei Strad Drander	Not have the		12s Bactive Disgrows	
420	D1-6386	Metailleoreng	20	33	Fersik .	Dic Diagnosee	excurrent/Meda: Dr.1	Deute :	New Zeatacular	Non-Aborighau/Terwis Strait Dewider	Hull Specified		L O. Dractive Disgrooms	
	21-81878	Websis Treymo	28	82	Farmy	Ba Diegronee	Distance Male 20	Shange	Australian	Merri Aborighnu/Tiprine Binad Disashe	Pararoner Concession	Card	1718 active Disgrower	
	DI-37ELE	Zachanan Nyilik	20	47	Male .	12×Diagnoses	excensed Medal Dira	rifia	Asymptot	Non-Aborighau/Terres Streit Deandar	Rona		Is Diactive Dispresses	
Aedium Risk	01-17151	Capton Larsen	28	\$7	Marii	18 z Diegroowie	Ak Danwet Maila - Vers	enting Asso	Autoballar Pacpres	Alem Aborighnu/Tiprive Strad Disorder	Paraioner/HCC		Instantive Disgrower	
	D1-89918	Lucife figure	10	41	Fersik .	B2x Diagnosiw	BCCUTWR/Nets D10		Hot Recorded	Non Norigha/Tohas Shalt Invide	Parisioner//HCC		Tr Diactive Dispresses	
1 205	21-11378	R/HARANDOUN	28	42	Terse	Life Diegroowie	Propriet Meda 211	Shange	Auktralian Peopres	Nerri Abortginau/Terries Strad Describe	NUM		It Batter Disgraves	
1,295	D1-1028	Azarta Wyatz	10	ti.	First-	TBX Diagnoses	18x Clamarit Mada - D10		That Specified	Non Aborighter/Terres Streit Desinder	Pare of wr Cohilassion		Its Dractive Dispresses	
	RISK GRO	UP SCORE	-	-10	Berne	15-764-000	The Torout Male. To t	14 +++	ALCO Schart Bach	Alari Alarini da Portas Alard Portas	Dancow Composed	Part.	To Branch an Operation	

Figure 10: Main interface of Diversion + MHR on the POLAR System

Thresholds in algorithm scoring were determined by what was a 'workable' number of patients for a clinician to work with, especially regarding urgent risk. This considered that if the number was too large then the clinician may be deterred from working with the cohort, whilst if too low, patients may miss out from a timely review. The algorithm ended up classifying patients into Urgent, High, Medium and Low groups, with approximately the top 5% of risk scorers within the practice classified as urgent.

Importantly, 'risk', as indicated by this tool, is not a reflection of gaps in the care GPs are providing (which may well be optimal), but rather a measure of the patient's overall risk factors. The tool's purpose is therefore to highlight that risk to the GP.

Once the tool was developed, further model tuning and associated adjusting for participant feedback were undertaken. While hospital linkages would have allowed a more comprehensive retrospective analysis of the data to examine if ED presentations did occur as predicted in the risk model, hospital data had to be descoped from the project due to delays in getting approvals and the impact of COVID-19. In the absence of hospital data, a range of other measures, including Victorian admitted and ED data, were used to assess differences and identify outliers.

Participants

Three Victorian PHNs (Eastern Melbourne PHN, Gippsland PHN, South Eastern Melbourne PHN) participated in the project. Three general practices in the POLAR network across Melbourne and Sydney also participated in the evaluation of the tool when built. COVID-19 had a major impact on General Practice and PHN availability to participate in and contribute to the project.

Research ethics approval

Received from the Monash Health Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

The tool was successfully built and uses a wide range of clinical and demographic inputs to enable GPs to make real-time decisions based on key patient data. The end product:

- Allows GPs to see either individual patients or an 'at risk' cohort of patients, i.e. a GP can view a group of their own patients at 'urgent' risk of hospitalisation.
- 2. Highlights a range of missing data quality items, where the presence of these items correctly recorded would likely alter the final risk score.
- 3. Suggests additional actions that can be pursued by the GP, particularly in the area of MBS utilisation; i.e. highlighting to GPs what additional activities can be conducted with their patients most at risk, for example care planning.
- 4. Enables GPs to see the individual elements that have contributed to the patient's risk score.

The tool was evaluated in three general practices across the POLAR network. Participants agreed that:

- The report was easy to use and understand.
- The report provided the information expected.
- The risk indicators presented accurately represented status of patient health.
- The additional patient information presented is useful.

Additional feedback from the evaluation sites included that the tool helped identify patients who required additional attention, helped promote the use of Shared Health Summaries and prompted clinicians to think more about what they could do to help higher risk patients.

Discussion

Learnings

This test bed provides evidence for the feasibility and usefulness of applying risk assessment algorithms to patient information in clinical information systems, i.e. at the point of care. While in-practice testing of the tool yielded positive results and feedback from GPs, further research is required to determine actual clinical effectiveness.

Challenges experienced during this test bed also highlighted a number of inconsistencies in the way different vendors send information to MHR from their clinical systems, which impacted on the final product that could be delivered. These included:

- The way medications are stored with inconsistent 'free text' in the dosage and frequency.
- The medication uploaded is not consistent in the use of generic ('Frusemide') or brand ('Lasix') names; in most cases this was not an issue, but in cases where a specific topical or reason for a brand name was required, this added complexity.
- The lack of coding in diagnosis, which resulted in an extra processing step of converting free text diagnosis to SNOMED-CT-AU.
- The persistent lack of Shared Health Summaries downloaded to GP clinical information systems.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

 Incorporating the other documents stored in the MHR with the risk algorithm could help eliminate identified barriers and further enhance the use and application of MHR and the algorithm. A reciprocal risk generation process, where a similar risk score would be calculated based on data uploaded to MHR by the GP, could encourage more GPs to engage with and upload to MHR.

The project team also separately identified recommendations for the Agency related to MHR improvements.

Conclusion

Through this test bed, a tool that predicts risk of ED presentation based on patient data within their GP's clinical information system and their MHR Shared Health Summary was created. Initial user testing found that this tool was well received by GPs. The tool is now being rolled out by PHNs and is available to general practices in Australia who are part of the POLAR network. Following this test bed, the project team intends to continue pursuing a state linkage system of data sharing, including hospital ED data, and adding this to the tool over time.

SECTION 2 Implementation test beds

This section looks at:

Improving the accessibility and adoption of digital health services

- Effective medicines safety at transition of care
- Enhancing medicine reconciliation delivered by community pharmacies
- Prescribing personalised health information at hospital discharge in Indigenous communities
- Connecting chronically ill patients to their digital health ecosystem through a mobile app

Implementing Agency initiatives within less digitally mature settings

- Maintaining continuity of care for prisoners released from incarceration
- Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging in the aged care sector
- Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging among specialists

IMPROVING THE ACCESSIBILITY AND ADOPTION OF DIGITAL HEALTH SERVICES Effective medicines safety at transition of care

Introduction

Background

In Australia, 250,000 people are hospitalised per year due to medication-related problems, at a cost of \$1.4 billion per year, and approximately 50% of these are preventable²³. Transition points of care are particularly prone to gaps in knowledge of current medicines resulting in unintended changes in medicine regimes and other medication errors. Better medication management at these transition points is critical, especially for patients with multiple chronic illnesses and chronic medication use²⁴⁻²⁶.

Medicine reconciliation is a process undertaken during transfers of care. This process involves the identification of the most accurate list of all medicines that the patient is taking, including name, dosage, frequency and route, based on at least two information sources (such as the patient themselves or their community pharmacist). MedView is a cloud-based platform that hosts a range of electronic prescription-related applications populated by data from the Fred IT Group's eRx Script Exchange, such as patients' prescribed and dispensed medication histories. The potential was identified for MedView to assist hospital pharmacists in conducting quick and accurate medicine reconciliation during the patient admission process.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Fred IT Group and the Centre of Medicine Use and Safety, Monash University, to explore the impact of implementing platforms like MedView at the point of admission to hospital. This test bed ran from July 2018 to May 2021.

Figure 11: Prescribed and dispensed medicines history on MedView

	Julie Dem		er 1981 (37 years, 2 months)		Gender Female		Records up to dat
	Address Medicare Number		ck St., Fitzroy Vic 3065		- CALINER - FAILURE		🖌 Ldit Patien
Clear Fil	er Drug Name		Q. Event type Pres	cribed with Dispensed 🔹	Show Cancelled		
Date	Dn	ug Details				Supply	Type Source
• 16 N	ov 2018 Levonorges	trel, Ethinyloestra	diol - Levlen Tablet - 4				2 Records
• 17 A	g 2018 AMOXICILL	N - AMOXIL - 50	0mg - CAP - 20				2 Records
• 17 A	ug 2018 Am Tak		0L CAP 500MG - 500mg - CAP - 21	1		1 of 2	Dispensed Community
		Medication De	stail	Uploaded By			
		Trade Name	Amoxi Cap 500mg	Pharmacist Name			
		Form Manufacturer	CAP AS	Pharmacy Address	Qaodiap03 Test Pc 123 TEST ST FITZROV VIC 3065		
		Generic Name	Amaxicilin				
		Strength PBS Code	500mg 01889K	Phone	0394181888		
17 A	ug 2018 Am		0L - 500mg - CAP - 20			Original	Prexcibed Community
		Medication De	etall	Uploaded By			
		Trade Name	Arraxi	Prescriber Name	GEORGE BEST		
		Form Manufacturer	CAP AS	Practice Address	Practice Name Is Not Available 20 TRENERRY CRES ABBOTSFORD VIC 3067		
		Generic Name	Amoxicilin	Hourcas	20 HEREIGT GIES ABBUTSTOND TIE SAGT		
		Strength	500mg	Phone	0394101000		
		PBS Code Repeats Issued	01689K				
• 17 A	ug 2018 AMOXICILLI	IN - AMOXIL - 50	0mg CAP 20				2 Records
* 14 Ju	n 2018 DESVENLAFA	AXINE - PRISTIQ	100mg (base) - ER-TAB - 28				2 Records
- 14.5			RISTIQ ER-TAB 100MG (BASE) - 100m ablet in the morning	g (base) + ER+TA8 + 28		1 of 6	Dispensed Community
	m 2018 Der Swa	svenlafaxine - P	RISTIQ + 100mg (base) + ER-TAB + 2	18		Original	Prescribed Community

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- 1. Investigate the impact of implementing platforms like MedView within hospital admissions on medicine reconciliation.
- 2. Investigate MedView user acceptability and preferences.

Methods

Design

A General Medical Ward in a public hospital (Site A) and an Emergency Department in a private hospital (Site B), both in Victoria, were identified as research sites. Clinical pharmacists working in these sites were trained in the use of MedView, including to view consolidated prescription and dispensing histories for the purpose of performing medicine reconciliations and to curate medicine lists for patients admitted to their hospital.

Quantitative phase

A pragmatic pre-post quantitative study evaluated timeliness and completeness of medicine reconciliation before and after MedView was implemented in both hospital sites. To assess timeliness, clinical pharmacists at both sites recorded the time taken to complete medicine reconciliation at baseline (before pharmacists had access to MedView, representing current best practice) and post-implementation (once the pharmacists had access to MedView). Two measurements were taken: the time taken to conduct medicine reconciliation (TTM) and the total elapsed time (TET) that included time taken doing other tasks. As this was an observational study, no significance testing was performed.

To assess completeness, Medicine Reconciliation Forms (MRFs) at baseline and post-implementation from each hospital site were analysed. Differences between the MRFs and the prescribing/dispensing history recorded on MedView were computed and used as the primary indicator of completeness (or agreement).

Qualitative phase

A qualitative study was also conducted to investigate MedView user acceptability and preferences. Pharmacists from both hospital sites who had used MedView for at least three weeks were interviewed for 30 minutes via Zoom. The semi-structured interview contained comparative, evaluative and descriptive questions that assessed interviewees' opinions on MedView's user experience and functionality.

Participants

To qualify for study inclusion in the quantitative phase, MRFs had to be of adult inpatients (aged over 18) with a chronic disease taking 4 or more regular medicines. 300 MRFs at baseline and 256 MRFs at post-implementation were collected from Site A, while 285 MRFs at baseline and 247 MRFs at post-implementation were collected from Site B.

In the qualitative phase, ten pharmacists were interviewed.

Research ethics approval

Received from the Monash University Human Research and Ethics Committee as well as the relevant committees at each hospital. Names of each hospital are omitted to preserve anonymity, which was a condition of ethics approval.

Results

Quantitative phase

No differences within or between hospitals were observed in numbers of medication, readmission rates, days to readmission or the time taken postadmission to complete a MRF in both baseline and post-implementation phases, indicating a similar cohort of patients were sampled in both hospitals and data collection periods. The number of information sources used in medicine reconciliation increased in both hospitals from a median of 2 sources (baseline) to a median of 3 sources (post-implementation), consistent with the introduction of MedView. A more detailed investigation of reported information sources showed that after MedView was implemented, it became the most frequently used information source, with a utilisation rate of 33% in both hospitals. The increase in MedView use was accompanied by corresponding decreases across time in the use of other information sources, particularly the patient's community pharmacy.

Comparisons of TTM and TET showed no difference for median TET between baseline and post-implementation, while TTM (time taken to complete an MRF) decreased by 25% for Site A and 21% for Site B, representing a cumulative time saving of approximately 48 hours for Site A and 12 hours for Site B in the six-week postimplementation period.

There were low rates of full agreement (defined as a 100% match between the MRF and the prescribing/dispensing history on MedView) of MRFs at baseline, with 14.7% of MRFs in Site A and 6% of MRFs in Site B being fully complete. At post-implementation, this figure rose to 18% in Site A and 13% in Site B respectively. However, MRF accuracy increased post-implementation, with the total number of omissions decreasing by 40% in Site A and 67% in Site B. These improvements were mostly associated with improved recording of prescription medicines as well as medication dosage attributes (e.g. dosage frequency), particularly strength. Further investigation of both datasets compiled via the medicine reconciliation process and available in the MedView platform found that each method identified medicine not identified by the other method. MedView prescribing/dispensing history was more likely to omit over-the-counter (OTC) medications, while pharmacist completed MRFs were more likely to omit prescription medicines. Examples of these medicines include analgesia, NSAIDs, vitamins, calcium, magnesium and salbutamol, typically prescribed items that may be cheaper to obtain OTC.

Qualitative phase

Interviewed pharmacists endorsed the accuracy, ease of access, speed and overall utility of MedView, ranking it as their top or second-highest medicine information source out of a list of ten provided by the interviewers in all four categories except accuracy (where it was ranked fourth). Overall, when asked for their most preferred sources for complete medicine reconciliations, participants ranked the patient or carer as first, MedView as second, the patient's own medicines as third, and the patient's community pharmacy as fourth.

In their consolidated assessment of MedView functionality, participants gave MedView the following scores:

- 1.4/5 for ease of access, where 1= very easy.
- 1.6/5 for ease of use, where 1= very easy.
- 3.6/5 for data completeness, where 5 = complete.
- 4.2/5 for data accuracy, where 5 = very accurate.
- 1.1/5 for ease of becoming proficient in using MedView, where 1= very easy.

Eight of the ten participants reported that MedView's accessibility (including on mobile devices) and speed of response were critical factors in their decision to use MedView. All ten participants reported MedView was a useful additional resource for completing medicine reconciliations and four reported it was an essential resource. Participants also found the consolidation of many years of prescription and dispensing data across multiple pharmacies on MedView valuable as they could use it to assess patient compliance and identify the pharmacies attended by patients.

However, participants raised concerns about whether the data on MedView was complete, particularly when some pharmacies did not feed data into the platform.

Discussion

Learnings

The findings from this test bed provide evidence that implementing a tool that provides access to electronically generated prescribed and dispensed medication histories, such as MedView, has the potential to improve the completeness and timeliness of medicine reconciliation conducted by hospital pharmacists for adults with chronic disease taking 4 or more regular medicines.

In this test bed, using MedView was associated with an over 20% reduction in the time spent conducting medicine reconciliations in both sites. These time savings could potentially be used to conduct more medicine reconciliations or to perform other clinical duties that could improve quality use of medicines. However, as the total elapsed time (from start of medicine reconciliation to finish) remained similar before and after MedView was implemented, there may be a natural limit to the number of medicine reconciliations that can be completed per day. This could be due to a lag in information delivery from other sources (e.g. from the community pharmacy) or a reflection of hospital pharmacists' busy schedules that require frequent multitasking.

The implementation of MedView appeared to be associated with a reduction in use of other information sources during medicine reconciliation, particularly the community pharmacy. This could be considered a positive for community pharmacists, as they will have fewer disruptions by their hospital pharmacy colleagues requesting information about the medication profiles of their patients. However, reduced regular communication between hospital and community pharmacies may not be beneficial in the long term, as awareness and open channels of communication in both directions is important to reduce medicine errors at transitions of care.

Sub-analyses of MRFs and the MedView prescribed/dispensed medicine histories found that MRFs were more likely to omit OTC medicines and that the MedView history was more likely to omit specific types of prescription medicines. Both the OTC and the types of medicines are typically cheaper or more convenient to purchase over the counter (compared to being dispensed by a pharmacist) and represent a systematic gap in electronically generated medicine prescription and dispense histories. This highlights the need for pharmacists and other healthcare professionals to use at least two different sources to complete a medicine reconciliation.

MedView provides quantitative data on how often and when a patient obtains repeat dispensing of their prescription since it was last prescribed. The pharmacists interviewed in this test bed found this a valuable surrogate for medication adherence and compliance, and such functionality could act as a clinical decision-making aid to prompt pharmacists to initiate further discussions with patients to understand why they may have not been using (or getting dispensed) a particular medication.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Pharmacists at transitions of care should have access to an electronically generated list of prescribed/dispensed medicines as an additional source of medication information.
- Hospital EMR systems should be required to upload and download medicines information to and from clinical information systems outside the hospital setting, including prescribed and dispensed medicines and any changes made during hospital admission.
- Similarly, all prescribing and dispensing data from all primary care sites (e.g. GPs, community pharmacies) should be made accessible to hospitals.

Conclusion

Overall, technologies such as MedView appear to offer advantages to improve the accuracy and efficiency of medicine reconciliation at transitions of care. However, systematic omissions of OTC and prescription medicines from both the pharmacist conducted medicine reconciliation process as well as the electronic prescribed/dispensed medicine list on MedView present challenges for the generation of a 100% accurate medicines list that can act as a single "source of truth".

IMPROVING THE ACCESSIBILITY AND ADOPTION OF DIGITAL HEALTH SERVICES

Enhancing medicine reconciliation delivered by community pharmacies

Background

The period immediately following hospital discharge has been identified as holding a particularly high risk for medication-related problems²⁷, and a report from the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia states that 9 in 10 patients have at least one medication-related problem soon after hospital discharge²⁸. A lack of proper medicine reconciliation following discharge from hospital can increase patients' risk of readmission to hospital for medication-related reasons.

As community pharmacists are visited regularly, community pharmacy-led medicine reconciliation could deliver pharmaceutical care to at-risk community members²⁹ and resolve common medication-related problems such as insufficient knowledge of drug use and fears of side effects³⁰. However, in practice this is challenging as medication communications to patients postdischarge are of inconsistent quality and local community pharmacies are rarely included in the discharge information loop³¹.

Uploading a discharge summary to My Health Record (MHR) at the point of hospital discharge could provide community-based health professionals access to a patient's discharge information loop and support the medicine reconciliation process. At the start of this test bed, this was not yet widely available.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Eastern Health, Monash University, Deakin University and the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia to pilot a community pharmacy medicine reconciliation intervention. This test bed ran from July 2018 to October 2020.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- Develop and evaluate a community pharmacy-based medicine reconciliation service designed to integrate with the MHR Discharge Summary.
- 2. Determine any barriers to its wider implementation.

Methods

Design

A structured medicine reconciliation service named DCMedsRec was developed from a literature review, expert input and input from community pharmacies around the process and logistics of delivery. The version of DCMedsRec that was evaluated in this test bed consists of the following steps³¹:

- Use discharge summaries uploaded to a patient's MHR alongside other sources to create a best possible medication history (BPMH).
- 2. Confirm the BPMH's accuracy.
- 3. Identify and resolve any discrepancies between medications and records.

Upon discharge from hospital, hospital pharmacists who agreed to participate in the study assessed consumer participants for eligibility and allocated eligible participants to either the intervention or control group using sealed envelope randomisation methods³¹. Participants in the intervention condition received information on DCMedsRec in their discharge information, including how to access the intervention (through a participating community pharmacy). Community pharmacists then delivered the intervention to consenting participants. The primary outcome of interest in the pilot evaluation was the rate of unplanned readmission to hospital within 30 days of discharge. Multiple sources of data were used to address study aims, including DCMedsRec service delivery and intervention outcomes extracted from community pharmacist claim forms, relevant hospital patient data (including admissions and discharge prescriptions), surveys and focus groups. Both quantitative and qualitative methods were used to analyse the data.

Participants

118 community pharmacists who worked in 54 community pharmacies in the Box Hill Hospital catchment area (25% of all local community pharmacies) agreed to participate and received CPD-accredited training on using DCMedsRec to provide medicine reconciliation services to eligible clients.

Consumer participants were recruited from April 2019 to March 2020. Participants were considered eligible if they were aged 18 years or over, had been admitted to an acute inpatient bed for over 24 hours, had been prescribed four or more medications at hospital discharge and had been discharged to their private residence.

Overall involvement was as follows:

- community pharmacist claim forms for each DCMedsRec recipient (n=56).
- an optional post-intervention telephone survey following a DCMedsRec appointment with consumers (n=34).
- post-training evaluations provided by community pharmacists (n=118).
- online survey responses from hospital pharmacists (n=15).
- focus group sessions with community pharmacists (n=13) and hospital pharmacists (n=6).

Research ethics approval

Received from the Eastern Health Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

Key outcomes

This test bed recruited 529 patients to its control group and 924 patients to its intervention group before stopping recruitment activities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. While 924 patients were offered access to DCMedsRec, only 56 approached community pharmacies to access it. Of these, 8 patients were excluded from analysis for not adhering to study protocol (e.g. readmission to hospital before attending DCMedsRec). The final sample size of DCMedsRec recipients (n=48) is too small to allow for meaningful statistical analysis. Regardless, the planned intention-to-treat and astreated analyses were conducted and showed no statistical difference in 30-day unplanned hospital readmission rate between the intervention and control groups.

Evaluation of the secondary outcomes considering stakeholder experience, process and barriers generated useful findings for future related projects. Overall, all three main stakeholders (patients, community pharmacists and hospital pharmacists) found DCMedsRec both acceptable and beneficial.

In the survey, consumers reported a high level of satisfaction with the service, with 97% finding it helpful, 100% stating they would access the service again if discharged from hospital in the future and 94% recommending the service to family and friends on medicines when they leave hospital. Older consumers tended to express more interest towards DCMedsRec than younger consumers. Community pharmacists reported feeling well trained and prepared to deliver the DCMedsRec service. Evaluation of the face-to-face training indicated good understanding of the project aims, processes and role of the community pharmacies, and there was strong consensus that DCMedsRec was relevant to current pharmacy practice and would fit alongside other services provided by pharmacies such as influenza vaccinations and MedsCheck.

Pharmacists typically use multiple "sources of truth" when performing medicine reconciliation. In this test bed, participating community pharmacists reported that the MHR Discharge Summary was their third-most referenced source (with the patient and their medicines physically brought to the pharmacy being the first and second-most referenced sources).

Finally, hospital pharmacists reported a good understanding and clarity of the randomisation process and acknowledged the value of interventions like DCMedsRec in supporting community follow-up on medication-related problems not suitable for addressing in the acute hospital setting, such as existing chronic conditions. However, they also experienced difficulty in integrating patient recruitment into their daily workflow, with only 13% reporting that this was easily done.

Barriers identified

The evaluation also identified a number of general implementation and stakeholder-specific barriers.

Wider implementation barriers

 Poor consumer understanding of medicine risk and consumer perceptions of inadequate benefits for accessing medicine reconciliation services such as DCMedsRec, particularly in the face of 'information overload' during discharge. Hospital pharmacists found it difficult to integrate research activity (in this case patient recruitment) in their normal workflow, particularly in the limited time they had to discharge patients.

Hospital barriers (workflow)

 Some hospital pharmacists worked part-time or frequently rotated around clinical areas, and therefore had fewer opportunities to build clinical rapport with discharging patients, increasing the difficulty of recruitment.

Community pharmacy barriers

- It was difficult to recruit participants due to the study design requiring patients to provide consent by actively making contact and requesting the DCMedsRec service.
- Quality of hospital discharge summaries was a challenge as information layout and terminology were not user friendly.
- Community pharmacists expressed concerns that information in MHR is incomplete.
- As medicine reconciliation services take around 15-30 minutes, they require an appointment which is at odds with the current "walk-in" or "service on request" model typical of a community pharmacy.

Patient barriers

- Both community and hospital pharmacists identified lack of knowledge related to medicine risk as a barrier, with patients frequently providing the feedback that "[DCMedsRec] sounds like a good idea but I don't think I need it".
- Logistical factors impacted recruitment, including ease of pharmacy access (as only 25% of pharmacies in the catchment area participated in this test bed) and poor ongoing health post-discharge.

• The COVID-19 pandemic and public health messages to 'stay at home' severely disrupted patient recruitment.

Discussion

Learnings

Findings from this test bed demonstrate the feasibility of implementing post-discharge medicine reconciliation services like DCMedsRec in metropolitan community pharmacy settings. While patients, particularly those with complex medicine needs, do not tend to have a full understanding of medicine safety risks, community pharmacists are well-placed to deliver medicine safety interventions.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Improve perceived benefits from attending the intervention by providing easily understandable information on medicine risk to consumers during hospitalisation instead of at discharge.
- Enable other healthcare professionals to undertake participant recruitment, such as nurses who could contact patients before admission or who could offer DCMedsRec referral as part of a discharge checklist.
 General Practitioners (GPs) or community pharmacists could also refer the patient once they are back in the community.
- Expand recruitment avenues to additional community options. This would increase the accessibility of the service, for example to homebound patients. There is precedence in the in-home medicine reconciliation service model and this could also be adapted for telehealth. It could also be expanded to include other healthcare professionals in the patient's care team, such as their GP.
- Explore avenues to allow integrating research activity into pharmacist workflow, such as additional funding or CPD points.

The project team also separately identified recommendations for the Agency related to MHR improvements.

Conclusion

Through this test bed, an intervention that uses MHR to support medicine reconciliation in a community pharmacy setting was developed and piloted. Positive feedback on the solution was received from all main stakeholders (patients, community pharmacists and hospital pharmacists), highlighting the benefits of undergoing a systematic process to generate a BPMH. In particular, community and hospital pharmacists noted that this intervention could "close the loop" as it offered community pharmacists access to discharge summaries and hospital pharmacists the ability to support long-term community care. A wider implementation of this intervention could potentially reduce medicine misadventure risks in the post-discharge process and support a servicefocused rather than supply-focused approach to patient care.

IMPROVING THE ACCESSIBILITY AND ADOPTION OF DIGITAL HEALTH SERVICES

Prescribing personalised health information at hospital discharge in Indigenous communities

Introduction Background

Compared with non-First Nations Australians, First Nations Australians experience a higher prevalence of chronic disease³². Research suggests that enhancing health literacy among these populations can help reduce health inequities as well as allow patients to take an active role in the management of their health and wellbeing³³⁻³⁴. Previous studies have shown significant associations between increased access to digital health information and a range of factors associated with health benefits, including improved health knowledge, more healthy lifestyle choices, increased medical compliance and improved communication between patient and healthcare professional (HCP)³⁵⁻³⁷.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with St John of God Health Care (SJGHC) and Healthily (specialists in patient education and behaviour change) to explore the value of digital information prescription to patients and HCPs at St John of God Midland Public Hospital (SJGMPH). This was done through the GoShare Healthcare platform (the Platform). The Platform is provided by Healthily and allows HCPs to send customised bundles of credible and evidence-based health resources to their patients via email and/or SMS (Figure 12). These information bundles can be prescribed based on a patient's medical needs and include tools, contents, programs and videos of patient stories, all tailored to a patient's literacy level. This test bed ran from June 2018 to December 2020.

Figure 12: Example GoShare configuration during the test bed

Your Programs	Create new 10	Moort Boodjari Mia Maternity Program	Send program 🖾				
dland Hospital CIS and PAS Medical Programs		Created 14 Feb 2020 by GoShare Support					
Mainstream Maternity Program Created 09 Dec 2019 By: GoShare Support Moort Boodjari Mia Maternity Program Created 14 Feb 2020 By: GoShare Support		Bundle 1 Email Message Kaya Boodjari Yorgas The Moort Boodjari Mia team has shared a link to health resources selected for you during your pregnancy. You will receive regular emails during your pregnancy, so you can connect to the latest information. We hope you lind them useful.	MBM Met 1 5 Stories 4 Info Obsets 3 Augus & Tuole				
		SMS Measure Kaya Boodjari Yorgas The Moort Boodjari Mia team has shared a link to health resources selected for you during your pregnancy. We hope you find them useful. To view your health resources, select the link below: [landing_page] To opt out reply STOP					

Aims

This test bed aimed to pilot the implementation of digital information prescription pathway through a digital patient education platform in a hospital setting.

Methods

Design

Four departments at SJGMPH were selected for the trial: the Emergency Department (ED), Mental Health Unit (Mental Health), Maternity Unit (Maternity) and Moort Boodjari Mia (MBM). MBM is a maternity service for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their families. To prepare for implementation of the Platform, designated champions in each department facilitated solution preparation sessions that focused on how to use the Platform, selecting resources for the digital information bundles and developing processes to send and promote information bundles to patients. New resources for pregnancy, such as videos of MBM patient stories and scheduled packs based on weeks of pregnancy, were also developed in consultation with patients.

The COVID-19 pandemic delayed the start of bundle distribution in all departments. This started in Maternity in March 2020, MBM and Mental Health in April 2020 and in the ED in May 2020. Maternity and MBM patients were sent information bundles after outpatient appointments, while Mental Health Unit and ED patients were sent bundles on discharge.

Following the launch of the Platform, patients at the participating departments were asked if they would consent to receiving health information digitally. If they agreed, they were asked to provide their email address and/or phone number. Patients then received an email or SMS with a link to an electronic information booklet tailored for their health requirements. When the content was viewed, the Platform logged their activity as complete. Platform data on HCP activity, including the number of digital information bundles distributed electronically from each department per month and title of the bundle, was collected. Data on patient activity was also collected, including number of digital bundles received by patients and the number of patients who 1) opened the email/SMS and 2) viewed the information bundle contents.

A survey to evaluate the Platform was also administered to HCPs from the participating departments. This survey assessed HCP perceptions of the Platform, its content and the Platform's impact on patients' self-management.

Participants

32 HCPs across the four departments (19 ED, two Mental Health, eight Maternity and three MBM), who had used the Platform to distribute digital information bundles, completed the evaluation survey.

Research ethics approval

This test bed was designed to be a quality improvement project which meant ethics approval was not sought.

Results

Platform data

Throughout the trial period from March 2020 to November 2020, the project distributed 33,604 information bundles electronically to patients, with the majority of the bundles sent from the Maternity Unit (26,424; 78.7%) and the fewest sent from the Mental Health Unit (925; 2.8%). Table 1 shows a breakdown of number of digital information bundles sent to, opened by and viewed by patients attending each department.

Department	Sent	Opened (% of sent)	Viewed (% of sent)
Maternity Unit	26,446	13,175 (50%)	771 (3%)
Moort Boodjari Mia	2,858	1,260 (44%)	74 (3%)
Mental Health Unit	925	336 (36%)	15 (2%)
Emergency Department	3,375	1,539 (46%)	530 (16%)

 Table 1: Number of digital information bundles sent, opened and viewed, organised by department

Survey findings

Perception of the Platform

23 out of the 32 HCPs surveyed (72%) considered the Platform easy to use and navigate, and 20 HCPs (63%) agreed that digital information bundles were easy to find and send, and that the GoShare platform was effectively integrated with hospital systems. 26 HCPs (81%) also indicated that their department encouraged the use of this Platform. However, 8 HCPs (25%) did not think they received appropriate training to use the Platform.

Perception of bundle content

Most of the HCPs surveyed considered the bundle content to be useful and of value to their patient's healthcare education. 26 HCPs (81%) agreed the reading material was written in plain language and felt it would be easily understood by patients, and 22 HCPs (69%) felt the information sheets would enhance patient interest in the relevant topics and that overall the content on the Platform was accurate and would result in effective patient engagement.

Perception of patients' journey and selfmanagement of their conditions

As above, a majority of HCPs surveyed agreed that the Platform could lead to positive patient outcomes, including their self-management skills (n=21; 66%), accessibility to educational resources (n=27; 84%), improved communication (n=22; 69%) and compliance with care plans and shared goals (n=20; 63%). 22 out of 32 (69%) HCPs also agreed that the Platform increased their patients' capacity to learn new information due to the various formats available, and notably, none disagreed with this statement.

Discussion

Learnings

Overall, this test bed provides preliminary evidence supporting the digital prescription of information packs within a variety of hospital and postdischarge settings, including a maternity service for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their families. HCPs surveyed in this test bed considered the bundle content delivered by the Platform to be appropriate for their patients' literacy levels and felt that the information would contribute to increased patient engagement. However, some felt they did not receive sufficient training on the use of the Platform. More regular training, online user support and promotion of Platform use could potentially have benefited HCP confidence in using the Platform.

Test bed results also suggest that compared to those of other participating departments, ED patients are more likely to view digital information bundles. This could be due to the unpredictable and often stressful nature of ED admissions and the convenience of receiving information digitally (as opposed to easily misplaced paper leaflets) and in multiple formats. However, further research is required to investigate any differences between departments, as well as consumer perceptions of the Platform, the appropriateness of its content and how it could impact their health knowledge and self-management. Like with many other projects in 2020, this test bed was significantly disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic, which led not only to Platform launch delays but also to a low number of non-maternity hospital presentations and admissions. The results of this test bed should be contextualised accordingly. Despite the challenges this test bed faced, however, several future use cases for digital information prescription within a hospital setting have been identified, including postsurgical care (e.g. orthopaedic exercise education following surgery) and chronic disease management.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- When devising initiatives requiring staff training, schedule in regular training sessions and consider use of online user support/reference content, to account for turnover.
- Conduct more controlled and larger scale evaluations of digital information prescription technology for healthcare and its potential impact on HCPs and consumers.
- Explore potential applications of digital information prescription technology for managing health conditions.

Conclusion

This test bed integrated a digital information prescription platform with SJGMPH systems and piloted digital information distribution in four hospital departments. Promising results from a HCP point of view were achieved. Further research is required to identify the most effective ways to tailor and distribute digital information bundles, and to identify any potential benefits for health consumers.

IMPROVING THE ACCESSIBILITY AND ADOPTION OF DIGITAL HEALTH SERVICES

Connecting chronically ill patients to their digital health ecosystem through a mobile app

Introduction Background

Nearly 1 in 2 (47%) of all Australians³⁸ have at least one chronic health condition. There is an established evidence base for the positive impact of patient-centred, integrated care on outcomes for people living with chronic and complex conditions³⁹⁻⁴¹.

The Primary Health Care Advisory Group Final Report⁴² proposed an integrated cycle of care in which patients, families and their carers are partners in their own care. In this model, patients are activated to maximise their knowledge, skills and confidence to manage their own health, aided by digital technologies and with the support of a healthcare team. While there are many standalone patient apps aimed at encouraging patients to take more control of their own health, there has been little investigation of digital technologies that connect patients to their care team and engage them in the full cycle of patient-centred team care.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with Precedence Health Care (who develop digital health solutions for integrated care) and partners (including WA Primary Health Alliance, Perth North Perth South and Country WA Primary Health Networks, Adelaide Primary Health Network, IPN Medical Centres and Movember Foundation Australia) to enable a patient to engage in all elements of their care through an innovative mobile app and patient portal (MediTracker). This test bed ran from June 2018 to March 2021.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- Use the MediTracker portal and mobile app linked to the Inca Integrated Care Platform (a coordinated care platform) to connect 10,000 patients with their primary GP and their selected care team as well as their My Health Record (MHR).
- Share the patient health record, including up-to-date GP clinical data, care team information, self-monitored patient data, care plans and the information in a patient's MHR with the patient and their care team.
- 3. Use the Inca coordinated care platform to enable the patient to engage fully in the end-to-end cycle of patient care.

Methods

Design

The project used the Inca coordinated care platform, which supports all key elements of chronic disease management and was already widely used across Australia by healthcare professionals. As shown in Figure 13, MediTracker is a mobile app and web portal linked to Inca which:

- Connects the patient's current GP clinical record held at their GP's practice.
- Enables a patient to select and connect to a dedicated team of care providers and to share their health record with this care team.
- Links to Apple Health and Google Fit and the vast array of monitoring devices and wearables, to share this information with the patient and their care team.



Figure 13: The Inca Coordinated Care Platform and its wider ecosystem (including MediTracker)

 Connects to the patient's MHR, providing other information such as hospital discharge summaries.

The project engaged with GPs, other healthcare providers, and patients who were already using Inca in chronic disease programs and integrated care initiatives, including Health Care Homes, to participate in the trial and recruit patients. Use of the system was then monitored over time and key indicators tracked.

Collaborative design improvements were made to the MediTracker portal and mobile app to improve its functionality as part of the trial and it was provided free to all participants.

Participants

Six Primary Health Networks participated in the trial: Tasmania, Murray, Adelaide, Perth North, Perth South and the ACT. Sonic Clinical Services (IPN Medical Centres) were used. The project aimed to recruit over 10,000 chronically ill patients and over 150 GP practices.

Research ethics approval

Received from the University of Melbourne Ethics Committee.

Results

As of 27 November 2020, across Australia there were 13,450 patients with MediTracker, 332 practices connected to MediTracker and 796 GPs connected with a MediTracker patient. These numbers exceeded the aims of the trial.

Encouragement by a GP at the practice to download the app was much more successful than direct patient promotion or recruitment via SMS, possibly due to a wariness of unsolicited texts. SMS blasts to patients to encourage them to participate in engagement assessments were also ineffective (25 completed assessments from 8,803 SMS sent).

The number of patients with the MediTracker app more than doubled during the trial, with those on managed care increasing proportionally, substantially increasing access to their medications when needed. The number of practices who enabled the MediTracker app remained static over the trial. The numbers of patients with the MediTracker app who were on managed care gradually increased over the 2.4 years, almost tripling for those with a care plan (GP Management Plan) and although the number of patients with a review in the prior six months did not match that of those with a care plan, it also increased over the trial.

The number of patients looking at their data 'recently' (in the last six months) did not increase over the trial.

At the time of the trial, use of linked mobile devices for measures such as oxygen saturation and blood pressure was still the domain of early adopters, resulting in limited data.

The availability of pathology and other information to the care team that was originally recorded in the patient's GP system was only accessed by small numbers of providers and even reduced over the trial.

The number of patients consenting to share their MHR with their care team increased over the trial and the number of times the MHR was accessed also increased.

Discussion

Learnings

This test bed digitally connected patients to their care team via the MediTracker app and the Inca coordinated care platform, which supported greater engagement of patients in managing their own care. It also increased collaboration between the patient and their care team, and increased use of digital health technologies by patients and their care team.

The trial has therefore demonstrated that consumers in primary care will use digital technologies to access their patient record data and GPs will facilitate this access. However, further research is needed into what impact this may have on their overall health outcomes and healthcare costs. A number of major issues were experienced during the trial:

- The move to the national opt-out consent program for MHR sensitised the population to digital health technologies and led to them being 'digitally fatigued'. The capacity of GP practices to engage in the trial was also reduced as they needed to roll out MHR, and resulted in the trial start being delayed until February 2019.
- The MHR mobile gateway paused taking on new entrants in August 2018 and reopened in early 2020, impacting MHR integration.
- The COVID-19 pandemic impacted patient use of primary care services in the final year of the trial and provider engagement in the trial was substantially reduced.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Greater consideration needed on how to track patient health outcomes over time.
- Use GPs and other trusted sources to encourage use of new digital technologies.
- Ensure sufficient time is allocated to the ethics approval process for this project it took seven months.
- Recognise that the value of apps like MediTracker requires getting to a critical mass of users (both consumers and providers) who are regularly adding information to this system, and that this will take time.

Conclusion

This test bed achieved a substantial uptake of the patient app and provides an encouraging demonstration of the demand for a patient having easier access to their health record and improving guidance and information for people with chronic conditions.

Post-trial, the MediTracker app continues to be used and Precedence aims to re-establish the connection between it and the MHR.

IMPLEMENTING AGENCY INITIATIVES WITHIN LESS DIGITAL MATURE SETTINGS

Maintaining continuity of care for prisoners released from incarceration

Introduction

Background

The Australian prison population experience poorer health than the general population and are more likely to come from disadvantaged populations⁴³. Across Australia, almost one in four (24%) of prisoners are diagnosed with a health condition while in prison and over half (54%) report that their health improved while in prison⁴⁴.

Effective discharge planning is vital for continuity of care. This involves providing clear referral pathways for prisoners, including finding a general practitioner, links to alcohol and drug treatment if required, and to other community and hospitalbased services on an as-needs basis⁴⁵. This assists them in building on and maintaining any health gains they made in prison, as well as helping to prevent relapse or deterioration of mental and physical health conditions.

Currently, Queensland prisoners may be provided with a paper-based health discharge summary. These are easily lost as prisoners may be moving long distances to return to their families or place of residence. There are formal discharge processes, but these may not include ongoing healthcare plans.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with the Darling Downs and West Moreton Primary Heath Network (DDWMPHN), Metro North Health, Woodford Correctional Centre Health Services and the School of Public Health at the University of Queensland to improve continuity of healthcare for prisoners in relation to their transitions between correctional settings and upon release. This test bed ran from June 2018 to March 2020.

Aims

This test bed initially aimed to pilot health discharge planning and uploading of real-time patient health information to My Health Record (MHR) within a Queensland correctional centre. The patient health information, such as medical tests, treatment plans and medication regimes, would be added to prisoners' MHRs during their incarceration.

However due to identified administrative and interoperability requirements and changes to test bed settings, its scope was revised to identifying barriers and enablers to implementing MHR in the Queensland justice system.

Methods

Design

The original project design would initiate and embed the use of MHR in one Queensland correctional centre and evaluate its use. A nurse would be recruited to the correctional centre health services to lead implementation. They would be provided with:

- training tools and resources to assist prisoners in accessing their MHR.
- policy, guidelines, training tools and resources to assist prison healthcare staff to upload prisoners' health information into the MHR. Information included general health, dental, sexual health, pathology and prescriptions.

The evaluation was to be conducted over a 12-month period by the School of Public Health, University of Queensland. It would use quantitative data (such as number and proportion of discharged prisoners with a discharge plan and comprehensive health information and discharge summary uploaded to MHR) and qualitative data (such as interviews with prisoners and local GPs). However, following promising initial negotiations with correctional centres, a large number of issues arose in terms of administrative and logistical impediments that ultimately meant the project could not proceed with implementing the use of MHR in a prison setting. The project was rescoped to focus on identifying barriers and enablers to project implementation through interviewing key stakeholders.

Participants

The original participants were prisoners and healthcare staff at the selected correctional centre.

With the change in project scope, five prison healthcare staff members were interviewed. Further interviews could not go ahead due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research ethics approval

Received from the University of Queensland Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

Healthcare providers in prisons are generally supportive of electronic health records and MHR being used to facilitate continuity of care and better health outcomes for prisoners.

The project confirmed that there is a real gap in providing continuity of healthcare to prisoners when they are discharged and that MHR could be a potential solution. Certain issues and barriers were identified that would have to be overcome before full implementation is possible, including:

 Further policy discussions are required to align all stakeholders with appropriate policy, privacy and risk assessments that take account of the unique privacy and safety considerations of this cohort.

- A lack of electronic medical record systems meant correctional centres were unable to produce electronic discharge summaries and upload other information to the MHR. This was compounded by poor IT systems and lack of secure internet access for staff in prisons.
- 3. Some prisoners do not have a Medicare card and many prisoners go by different names, making it difficult to match records by usual identifiers (such as the Individual Healthcare Identifier). During this test bed, Services Australia solved this issue by agreeing to provide each prisoner with a Medicare number that does not entitle them to Medicare-funded services.
- Prisoner discharge can happen at short notice and may not include up-to-date healthcare information. There may not be time to undertake formal discharge planning and have a health discharge summary prepared.
- A Healthcare Provider Identifier Organisation (HPI-O) is required for each organisation wanting to adopt MHR. If a prison's HPI-O is identifiable as a prison, former prisoners may experience stigma and discrimination when accessing mainstream healthcare services.
- Prisoners face digital literacy barriers and may not be comfortable with digital health technologies⁴⁶.

Discussion

Learnings

The project was unable to achieve its original aims due to the various policy and interoperability issues encountered in introducing an electronic health record.

Whilst the project was unable to pilot the use of MHR to a sample prisoner population, it has identified the key enablers and barriers to any future implementation.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were also identified by the project team and include:

- Actively scope out existing jurisdictional policies relating to prisoner health data being added to MHR and the feasibility of making any changes to these to support MHR use.
- Review the feasibility of any changes required in MHR to support deidentifying prison locations and healthcare practitioners when a prisoner's health information is uploaded.

If the above results in MHR remaining a potential solution for the prisoner population, for any future projects:

- Map out the requirements for approvals and any policy/legislative changes required to proceed with a similar innovation project.
- Identify and map out pathways for visiting healthcare professionals to input information into prisoners' MHR (or similar electronic health record).
- Ensure a change champion is identified in each of the participating stakeholder organisations.
- Engage with prisoner support organisations early on to ensure prisoners' views are represented and to help advocate for the project.
- Ensure long timeframes for negotiation and a suitable budget have been allocated in the project plan, due to the sector's complexity.

Conclusion

The need to improve continuity of healthcare for prisoners in Queensland remains. More research is necessary to explore if MHR or similar technologies is the best way of achieving this. While this test bed identified the key enablers and barriers to implementing My Health Record within the Queensland justice system, these findings are also applicable to other healthcare settings that are primarily paper-based and have low uptake of electronic health record systems, such as aged care, allied health and specialists.

IMPLEMENTING AGENCY INITIATIVES WITHIN LESS DIGITAL MATURE SETTINGS

Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging in the aged care sector

Introduction

Background

By 2035, current projections indicate that the number of people aged over 65 will have almost doubled to six million. With the associated increasing prevalence of chronic diseases and disabilities, Residential Aged Care Facilities (RACFs) will have to care for more complex health conditions, increasing the demand for quality and better integrated healthcare services in aged care facilities. Secure exchange of health information is a core foundation to better supporting this. For example, the GRACEMED study identified that less than 10% of residents' medication charts matched the records of their treating GP and suggested that improving the use of digital systems to support patient handover could improve patient safety⁴⁷.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with the Sydney North Health Network (SNHN) to trial and evaluate new approaches to accelerate the use of My Health Record (MHR) and Secure Message Delivery (SMD) to connect Residential Aged Care Facilities (RACFs) with general practice, pharmacy and acute care providers. This test bed ran from June 2018 to June 2021.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- Understand how RACFs engage with and use digital health technologies, to guide future work in scaling up the use of digital health in aged care settings.
- 2. Support RACFs in the region to connect to and use MHR and SMD.
- **3.** Develop an online toolkit to support RACFs with connecting and using MHR.

Methods

Design

The aims of the test bed were to be achieved through a structured change management effort by SNHN, comprising communications, education workshops, online training, on-site visits and local RACF champions. Additionally, an online toolkit was developed which stepped through the MHR connection process in more detail. Once the facility was set up and using the MHR and SMD, clinicians who worked with the facility were invited to participate. Residents and their families were also engaged in trial sites. The project team continued to provide support to help embed use of the systems over time.

SNHN commissioned the Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research at Macquarie University to evaluate the test bed. A multi-method baseline evaluation consisting of semi-structured interviews and surveys was conducted with the RACFs recruited to the project. The survey was also distributed to Directors of Nursing and GPs within the health network. The evaluation focused on getting connected to MHR and SMD, including feedback on resources provided by the SNHN team to do so, use of MHR and SMD and benefits of their use, and impacts of COVID-19 on health technology use.

Participants

SNHN recruited 12 RACFs to the project. Existing relationships with RACFs resulted in the first four facilities joining the project, with the others joining from an open expression of interest email to all the RACFs within the region, followed up with phone and email communications.

For the evaluation of this test bed conducted by Macquarie University, 11 respondents completed the initial baseline survey and 19 the follow-up survey, with two respondents completing both baseline and follow-up surveys. Three qualitative interviews were also held.

Research ethics approval

Received from the Macquarie University Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Low-risk Human Research Ethics Subcommittee.

Results

Of the 12 facilities who participated in the project, five ended up connected to MHR and four completed their training. However, only one was an active MHR user by the end of the project (defined as greater than five views/transactions since connection). No RACF in the project could connect to MHR without regular face-to-face and online meetings to guide them through each step of the process. Non-conformance of clinical software was a huge issue, with the most common software in use at the RACFs not being conformant with the MHR until March 2021.

Only two RACFs asked for support with secure messaging, with the majority of RACFs advising they were not interested in SMD as it was too difficult to incorporate into their workflow and they could not justify the cost.

Based on the results of the evaluation surveys and interviews, none of the facilities who participated in the post-pilot interviews were currently using SMD. Two of the three aged care facilities interviewed had experience using MHR. One facility had been using MHR for 10 days at the time of the interview. The other facility was not currently using MHR, but had previously used MHR for one month, before ceasing to do so. In both the interviews and survey, RACF staff generally reported positive attitudes towards MHR use in the future. These positive views were largely due to having ready access to resident information from external healthcare providers within the one portal. Direct and tailored support from a Primary Health Network (PHN) representative, an in-house staff 'champion' of MHR adoption, and ongoing external advice and training were seen as critical to successful ongoing use of MHR. Barriers to implement and use MHR were mostly technical difficulties experienced and a perceived redundancy of the MHR system given that RACF staff had other established means to source resident clinical information.

Discussion

Learnings

Despite a large amount of training, education and support being provided to participating RACFs to enable them to access and use the MHR, only one was using it by the end of the project. Although other facilities are connected, it is not yet part of their workflow to access MHR.

Issues faced with connecting to the MHR included setting up Provider Registration Online Digital Access (PRODA) accounts, identifying the Responsible Officer and loading the relevant digital certificates. Many RACFs have outsourced their IT and such installation requires complex technical support. Those with inhouse IT support managed the connection process far more effectively. There was also confusion with the IT providers as to whether NASH certificates were required for each 'network' organisation that sits underneath a 'seed' registration. Several participating RACFs got stuck on this issue and were unable to proceed further.

No traction was gained in SMD, with only two RACFs seeking support in this area and none reporting that they were using it by the end of the project. Some RACFs have registered for the free HealthLink Secure Messaging Portal. However, most prefer to continue to use fax and email, despite recognising they are not secure.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Develop education packages for MHR for use by RACF staff.
- Ensure MHR is integrated into aged care clinical information systems.
- Maintain ongoing support for RACFs while they get connected to and during use of MHR and SMD, including streamlining the technical support assistance lines that RACFs can call for assistance.

- Encourage external healthcare providers connected to RACFs to use the MHR, such as GPs, hospitals, pharmacists and allied health.
- Create greater awareness of the benefits of using SMD for RACF staff.

It is noted that many of these recommendations align with the ones in the recent Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety.

The project team also separately identified recommendations for the Agency related to improving the MHR registration process. These were relayed to the responsible teams at the time, and it is now possible to register for MHR with a fully online process. The Agency will also establish a dedicated RACF support hotline to facilitate the MHR registration process for RACFs.

Conclusion

This test bed recruited 12 RACF organisations and identified numerous barriers and enablers to acceleration of adoption of digital health technology within RACFs. This was supported by an evaluation of the project undertaken by the Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research at Macquarie University.

The learnings, insights and resources developed will help inform future aged care sector programs of work stimulating digital awareness and adoption, MHR and SMD adoption within RACFs, and including implementation of the digital technology recommendations arising from the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. An Aged Care Transfer Summary is also being developed to assist external healthcare providers connected to RACFs in transfer-ofcare situations where the RACF resident is being transferred to hospital care. This project has highlighted the amount of technical and change management support that is required to assist RACFs when first registering with and using MHR. It has also highlighted that a better business case for SMD is required before RACFs will be willing to adopt it.

IMPLEMENTING AGENCY INITIATIVES WITHIN LESS DIGITAL MATURE SETTINGS

Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging among private specialists

Introduction

Background

The Sydney North Health Network (SNHN) is home to several large private hospitals who are interested in further adopting digital technology, including improving the speed and precision of data transmitted between patients and doctors and between healthcare professionals. However, contractual relationships with individual private specialists makes wide-spread change and adoption challenging.

In this test bed, the Agency partnered with SNHN to trial and evaluate new approaches to increasing the use of My Health Record (MHR) and Secure Message Delivery (SMD) among private medical specialists. This would be achieved through a structured change management effort by SNHN, comprising communications, education workshops, online training and on-site visits. This test bed ran from June 2018 to June 2021.

Aims

This test bed aimed to:

- 1. Understand how private specialists engage with and use digital health technologies.
- 2. Support private specialists in the region to connect to and use MHR and SMD and embed this as part of their workflow.
- **3.** Develop an online toolkit to support existing and future participants with connecting to MHR.

Methods

Design

SNHN recruited private specialists to the project who were then trained up in how to use MHR and SMD via face-to-face and online training. Practice staff were included where relevant. Additionally, an online toolkit was developed which stepped through the MHR connection process in more detail. Once set up and using the MHR and SMD, the specialist would invite two to three members of their own clinical network to also participate so they could see the systems integration working firsthand. The project team continued to provide support to help embed use of the systems over time.

SNHN also commissioned the Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research at Macquarie University to evaluate the test bed. A multi-method baseline evaluation consisting of semi-structured interviews and surveys was conducted following the pilot implementation phase. The evaluation focused on getting connected to MHR and secure messaging, use of MHR and secure messaging, and impacts of COVID-19 on health technology use by private specialists recruited to the project by the SNHN team.

Participants

34 medical specialists and four private hospitals participated in the project. Recruitment was through a combination of existing SNHN Network relationships, contacting specialists in existing databases and referral through specialists already engaged in the project.

For the evaluation report, 21 respondents completed the initial survey and 23 the follow-up survey, with five respondents completing both baseline and follow-up surveys. Six qualitative interviews were also held. The SNHN test bed project team were responsible for distribution of the survey to specialists involved in the pilot phase of the project. The survey was also distributed to specialists from within the health network via the mailing list of those who have attended events hosted by SNHN.

Research ethics approval

Received from the Macquarie University Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Low-risk Human Research Ethics Subcommittee and the Adventist HealthCare Limited Human Research Ethics Committee.

Results

Of the 34 specialists who participated in the project, 18 ended up connected to MHR and 16 completed their training. However, only five became active MHR users (defined as greater than five views/transactions since connection). A key issue was the MHR connection process, with only two specialists able to complete this without assistance from the SNHN. Non-conformance and partial conformance (lack of functionality) of clinical software was found to be the single most significant barrier to specialist engagement with MHR, with nearly 30% of participants still having non-conformant software at project finish.

32 out of 34 specialists had secure messaging installed by the end of the project. Healthlink was the most used secure messaging provider with 28 (82%) of the practices installing it, followed by Argus with 20 (59%), then Medical Objects 7 (21%). Half the practices installed more than one provider, and two chose not to install any.

Based on the results of the evaluation surveys and interviews, use of MHR and SMD was seen to be useful for most specialists in sending and receiving of patient clinical information between various healthcare providers. At the start of the project, interviewed specialists were already using SMD and continued to so do. Regarding MHR, several barriers to getting connected to and using MHR were identified by specialists, such as non-conformant software, non-use by other healthcare providers and the current lack of information within a patient's MHR. The followup survey showed that most staff currently use SMD; however, their intention to use SMD in the future had declined. Furthermore, IT systems were reported to be more conformant with MHR, with available support for specialists at follow-up.

There was an increase in MHR use by staff in their practice, although this use was reported as less than once a month. At follow-up, staff used MHR to mostly view information; however, 40% did not believe that it saved them time.

Discussion

Learnings

Despite a large amount of training, education and support being provided to specialists to enable them to access and use the MHR, only a small percent were actively using it as part of their workflow by the end of the project. Many participants experienced issues with the MHR registration process, relating to creating and using a Provider Registration Online Digital Access (PRODA) account and PKI digital certificates. Where registration was successful, the clinical software itself was often not conformant with MHR. with only one additional vendor becoming conformant during the project timeline and many who stated they were conformant not being fully so (e.g. unable to send specialist letters). These issues led to some participants dropping out or no longer engaging with the project, whilst others turned to using the National Provider Portal (NPP) instead as the standard connection process was too complex.

Many specialists reported that they only see the value of accessing MHR if their administration staff can also access it, as this follows their workflow. They also reported too many troubleshooting contact numbers – for example, depending on the issue you may need to call the helpline of MHR, Health Professional Online Service (HPOS), PRODA or eBusiness Service.

The rollout of SMD was more successful. However, it is difficult for specialists to know which SMD platform to use as they don't know which SMD software their network recipients are using or what their own clinical system is conformant with (e.g. Argus, Healthlink or Medical Objects). This makes services such as eFax currently more user friendly than SMD.

Recommendations

Recommendations for future related work were identified by the project team and include:

- Review with software vendors if practice administration staff can be allowed to access MHR as well as clinical staff.
- Adopt a contracted service provider (CSP) model, where vendors co-manage the installation and maintenance of digital certificates.
- Streamline the support numbers that practices can call to help get connected to the MHR.
- Primary Health Networks to further support practices (including practice administrative staff) in signing up to and using SMD. This includes providing education and training on what SMD is and its benefits, visiting practices to provide training, troubleshooting (including support with managing various address books) and branding, so that practices are advertising their secure message delivery address (EDI) to other providers.
- Developing an address book to indicate which SMD platform a healthcare provider is using.

The project team also separately identified recommendations for the Agency related to improving the MHR registration process. These were relayed to the responsible teams at the time, and it is now possible to register for MHR with a fully online process.

Conclusion

The project successfully recruited 34 specialists and identified numerous barriers and enablers to acceleration of adoption of digital health technology within the private system. This was supported by an evaluation of the project undertaken by the Centre for Health Systems and Safety Research at Macquarie University.

The learnings, insights and resources developed can help inform future MHR and SMD adoption within private specialist practice. In particular, the project has highlighted the importance of technical and change management support being available to practices to assist them when first registering with and using the systems.

Conclusion and next steps

This section looks at:

What did the Digital Health Test Beds achieve? What did we learn from the Digital Health Test Beds?

- End user acceptability of digital health solutions
- Clinician value proposition
- Large-scale interoperability and governance challenges

Moving forward: The Agency's new approach to innovation

- Digital technology is an enabler, not the solution
- New models of research required

What did the Digital Health Test Beds achieve?

The Digital Health Test Beds program was an ambitious program that aimed to pilot new digitally enabled models of care through partnerships between industry, government and healthcare provider organisations.

The technical test beds struck a balance between developing and piloting new and emerging technical solutions (e.g. for collecting patientreported experience measures, page 25) and enhancing digital health solutions used by healthcare professionals today (e.g. improvements to the POLAR System, pages 16 and 36).

Of note are the initiatives that successfully designed and implemented solutions for the use of health information for research and public health purposes. For example, the Western Sydney Diabetes dashboards (page 31) have continued to be used by Western Sydney Diabetes and the Western Sydney Local Health District since the test bed closed in late 2019. These uses range from managing public healthcare allocations, supporting the provision of remote healthcare, identification of at-risk populations and tailored delivery of diabetes education to both healthcare professionals and consumers. The re-use of aggregated and de-identified health information in these ways demonstrates the exciting possibilities of how near real-time data can inform a public health response, even in high-uncertainty situations such as a pandemic.

Some technical test beds also progressed to evaluating the feasibility of using the solutions they developed in real-world environments and generated findings that are applicable both locally (within their specific context) and for digital health initiatives more generally. For example, the Princess Alexandra Hospital test bed (page 25) trialled the eAPP module for the collection of patient-reported experience measures and successfully refined the pathway through which it could be used in a cancer care environment. Through this exercise, the test bed project team also established internal partnerships and set a precedence for the further collection of patientreported measures, such as patient-reported outcome measures, within the hospital.

Of course, not all digital health solutions can be designed and developed from the ground up to align with the specific requirements of the setting (clinical or otherwise) they are deployed in. That is why the implementation test beds focused on embedding existing solutions into healthcare environments with minimal customisation (beyond what was already available) of the digital health technologies involved, and on identifying barriers and enablers to this approach.

Two of the implementation test beds that both focused on medicine reconciliation generated promising evidence for the usefulness of integrating digital health solutions into this process at hospital admission (page 42) and in the community after discharge from hospital (page 47). Together, they represent a closing of the loop when it comes to the electronic transfer and *use* of information critical for improving patient outcomes (in this case related to medicine safety). More generally, these test beds also demonstrate the feasibility of integrating electronic medical records into other clinical tasks that benefit from increased access to additional information sources, such as emergency triage.

There is no inherent value in clinical information until it reaches the people it is intended for and meaningfully influences clinical decision-making. The work the implementation test beds did in developing and evaluating pathways for the clinical use of this information is therefore a crucial step in the digital health research cycle. While some were deployed in complex and less digitally mature environments, and could not reach implementation as a result, all produced insights valuable for future digital health implementations at scale.

What did we learn from the Digital Health Test Beds?

Each test bed report contains a summary of individual learnings within the context of the test bed. Major overall learnings from the program are summarised here.

End user acceptability of digital health solutions

The Digital Health Test Beds program established that generally, consumers and healthcare professionals are positive about adopting digital health solutions. Several of the implementation test bed demonstrated that trusted healthcare professionals play an important role in encouraging their patients to participate in test beds and take up digital health technologies. The Digital Health Test Beds also found that while consumers are generally supportive of their healthcare professionals having access to their health information, they were still concerned about the privacy of this information.

Multiple test beds that focused mainly on older consumers also found a lack of digital literacy to be a challenge. Some test beds also experienced complexities in training healthcare professionals to access and use digital health solutions, particularly those in less digitally mature environments or those who work multiple locations in a week (such as hospital pharmacists). A majority of the implementation test beds found that having a person within implementation sites to push the test bed forward was useful. Ideally, this person would perform a joint "change champion" (continually advocating for the project to the multiple stakeholders involved) and "digital navigator" (helping stakeholders and participants with how to use the digital health solutions being trialled) role. This finding is consistent with current digital health research suggesting that placing a digital navigator as a new team member within health services can help overcome barriers to adoption and meaningful use⁴⁸. The Agency is continually reinforcing this concept in clinician education and communication initiatives.

Clinician value proposition

The Digital Health Test Beds established that for digital health solutions to be successfully adopted in complex environments such as healthcare services there needs to be a clear value proposition. This is especially the case for digitally immature settings where a lack of digital infrastructure (or fragmented digital infrastructure) can coalesce with financial, policy and governance barriers to create a culture of resistance.

However, the Digital Health Test Beds also demonstrated that integrating digital health solutions into clinical workflows is possible, particularly in contexts where having access to multiple sources of information is valuable (such as transitions of care). The test beds that were most successful in doing this were embedded within the healthcare settings where the digital health solution was deployed. They also designed their digital health solutions (including workflows) to minimise negative impacts on clinical workflow.

Multiple implementation test beds experienced challenges related to the "network effect" – namely, that the utility of digital health solutions can only be fully realised once a critical mass of users (consumers and healthcare professionals) adopt them. Promoting widespread adoption across a variety of healthcare providers (e.g. allied health, specialists, hospitals) should therefore be a priority for future digital health initiatives.

Large-scale interoperability and governance challenges

The test beds underscored the issue that continues to face digital health solution implementation and that is that large-scale challenges are still unsolved and are inhibiting the implementation of digital health solutions at scale. For example, the Digital Health Test Beds project teams faced challenges relating to a lack of standardisation in the names and fields required for medication, pathology tests and advance care directives. Interoperability issues also complicated integrations between healthcare service, state and nation for multiple test beds. A large amount of resources allocated to technical test beds were spent on developing solutions to these issues.

More broadly, the Digital Health Test Beds identified a lack of clear guidance related to key digital health functionalities such as the automated transfer of data and how this would interact with clinical governance. While participating healthcare professionals broadly recognised the value of 'real time' or near-real time patient data and analytics, some were cautious that being aware of a patient's deterioration yet being unable to act upon it (for example if it occurred outside working hours or in a geographically remote area) could lead them to be in breach of duty of care. Although the Australian digital health landscape has progressed significantly since 2018, more work remains to be done to increase its medicolegal maturity. There is also potential in exploring policy levers to promote digital health practices.

Moving forward: The Agency's new approach to innovation

Digital technology is an enabler, not the solution

The largest insight from the learnings and achievements of the Digital Health Test Beds program is that digital technologies in isolation cannot solve the problems and pressures of the health system. Rather, digital technologies enable and facilitate new models of care to be established — for example making the remote monitoring of diabetes within Western Sydney possible so as to inform clinical resource allocation, or providing additional sources of information to which trained pharmacists can refer during medicine reconciliation.

In other words, digital technologies are best viewed as components of wider digital health solutions. These solutions target barriers to digital health adoption and use in a more holistic manner and will require changes to traditional care pathways, a health service's workflows and clinical governance protocols, and health system standards.

Such solutions cannot be developed without indepth consultation with end users (consumers, healthcare professionals and health service providers). Using co-design methodologies to design digital health *solutions* with end users could change digital health perceptions and readiness, create ownership of these solutions among these groups and contribute to the change in attitudes required for sustaining these solutions into the future.

New models of research required

There is growing academic consensus that traditional methods of intervention evaluation such as the randomised controlled trial are not suitable for evaluating digital health interventions⁴⁹⁻⁵⁰. This is especially so for digital health solutions as they encompass all levels of the health system, from top to bottom and broad to narrow (Figure 14). Evaluations of digital health solutions must consider the varying goals and motivations of stakeholders at each level, and account for (instead of writing off) the interacting social and political contexts inherent in the implementation of digital health⁵¹.

The Digital Health Test Beds experienced many challenges related to COVID-19 as research activities were paused so that frontline healthcare settings could respond to the healthcare needs of real people. They also showed that while digital technology has many possibilities, it also creates new gaps — for example in those with lower digital literacy and access. To identify and mitigate these gaps, digital health solutions that create the greatest possible benefit for as many stakeholders as possible must be trialled before implementation in the real world.

An alternate, simulated version of clinical and other environments could be an ideal setting in which these solutions can be trialled. Conducting evaluations in such a setting would allow unsuitable solutions to 'fail fast' with no real-world impact. Promising solutions could be identified and rapidly and iteratively improved, in a way that provides a level of external validity while still maintaining research rigour.

This simulated environment would allow for quick and flexible testing of different combinations of interventions and system standards, enabling the optimum combinations to be identified before they are implemented in the real world. This would minimise real-world disruptions while maximising the potential real-world benefits of these solutions. *Figure 14:* Digital health solutions – comprising of new technologies, care pathways and clinical workflows and adhering to new clinical governance protocols and health system standards



References

Integrating My Health Record in outpatient cardiology clinics to improve quality of care

- 1. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.Trends in cardiovascular deaths.Bulletin no.141.Cat.no.AUS 216. Canberra: AIHW;2017.
- Cullen L, Greenslade J, Merollini K, Graves N, Hammett CJ, Hawkins T, Than MP, Brown AF, Huang CB, Panahi SE, Dalton E. Cost and outcomes of assessing patients with chest pain in an Australian emergency department. Medical Journal of Australia. 2015 May;202(8):427-32. doi:10.5694/mja14.00472.
- Klimis H, Khan ME, Thiagalingam A, Bartlett M, Altman M, Wynne D, Denniss AR, Cheung NW, Koryzna J, Chow CK. Rapid access cardiology (RAC) services within a large tertiary referral centre—first year in review. Heart, Lung and Circulation. 2018 Nov;27(11):1381-7. doi:10.1016/j. hlc.2018.05.201.
- Klimis H, Shaw T, Von Huben A, Charlston E, Usherwood T, Jennings G, Messom R, Thiagalingam A, Gunja N, Shetty A, Chow CK. Can existing electronic medical records be used to quantify cardiovascular risk at point of care? Internal Medicine Journal. 2021 Jun. doi:10.1111/imj.15439.

Enhanced view of the Shared Health Summary on My Health Record

No references

Aggregating historical pathology results into one digital platform to reduce inefficiencies

- 5. Harrison L. Pathology Services in Australia (Report No.Q8521).IBISWorld; 2021 Mar.
- Scott IA. Audit-based measures of overuse of medical care in Australian hospital practice. Internal Medicine Journal. 2019 Jul;49(7):893-904. doi:10.1111/imj.14346.
- Bai L, Gao S, Burstein F, Kerr D, Buntine P, Law N. A systematic literature review on unnecessary diagnostic testing: The role of ICT use. International Journal of Medical Informatics. 2020 Nov;143:104269. doi:10.1016/j. ijmedinf.2020.104269.
- 8. Georgiou A, Vecellio E, Li L, Westbrook JI. The impact of an electronic medical record on repeat laboratory test ordering across four Australian hospitals. Studies in Health Technology and Informatics. 2015;216:917. doi:10.3233/978-1-61499-564-7-917.
- Imai C, Hardie RA, Franco GS, Sezgin G, Tepper K, McLeod A, Pearce C, Westbrook J, Georgiou A. Harnessing the potential of electronic general practice pathology data in Australia: an examination of the quality use of pathology for type 2 diabetes patients. International Journal of Medical Informatics. 2020 Sep;141:104189. doi:10.1016/j. ijmedinf.2020.104189.
- Legg M. Standardisation of test requesting and reporting for the electronic health record. Clinica Chimica Acta. 2014 May;432:148-56. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2013.12.007.
- 11. Li QC, Sweetman G. A healthcare quality management system underpinning the 3-E model and its application in a new tertiary hospital in Australia. International Journal of Nursing Sciences. 2017 Apr;4(2):112-6. doi:10.1016/j. ijnss.2017.02.003.

- 12. Schofield P, Shaw T, Pascoe M. Toward comprehensive patient-centric care by integrating digital health technology with direct clinical contact in Australia. Journal of Medical Internet Research. 2019 Jun;21(6):e12382. doi:10.2196/12382.
- Delaney LJ. Patient-centred care as an approach to improving health care in Australia. Collegian. 2018 Feb;25(1):119-23. doi:10.1016/j.colegn.2017.02.005.

Prototyping a mobile app for people with pancreatic cancer

 Cancer Australia.Pancreatic cancer in Australia statistics. [Internet]. Available from: https://www.canceraustralia. gov.au/affected-cancer/cancer-types/pancreatic-cancer/ statistics.

Piloting clinical administration of a digital patient experience measure in cancer care

- 15. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Cancer in Australia 2019.Cancer series no.119.Cat.No.CAN 123. Canberra: AIHW;2019.
- 16. Doyle C, Lennox L, Bell D. A systematic review of evidence on the links between patient experience and clinical safety and effectiveness. BMJ Open. 2013 Jan;3(1):e001570.
- 17. McCarthy AL, Reid C, Stone L, Jones L, Langbecker D, Janda M, Laing B, Tenenbaum R, Atalag K. The Patient-Reported Experience (Cancer) Questionnaire: Development, validation, reliability testing and on to system-wide digitization. Paper presented at: Clinical Oncology Society of Australia Annual Scientific Meeting; 2019 Nov 12-14; Adelaide, Australia.

Digitising and linking Advance Care Directives with My Health Record

 Buck K, Detering K, Sellars M, Sinclair C, White BP, Kelly H, Nolte L. Prevalence of advance care planning documentation in Australian health and residential aged care services report 2019. Melbourne: Advance Care Planning Australia;2019.

Developing the Western Sydney Diabetes Data Hub

- Davis WA, Peters KE, Makepeace A, Griffiths S, Bundell C, Grant SFA, et al. Prevalence of diabetes in Australia: insights from the Fremantle Diabetes Study Phase II.Internal Medicine Journal. 2018;48(7), 803-9.
- 20. Western Sydney Diabetes.Western Sydney Hotspot. [Internet] 2021. Available from: https://www. westernsydneydiabetes.com.au/western-sydney/westernsydney-hotspot.

Developing an algorithm predicting risk of unplanned hospitalisation

21. Australian Government Department of Health. Primary Health Networks (PHN) program performance and quality framework. [Internet] 2018. Available from: https://www. health.gov.au/resources/publications/primary-healthnetworks-phn-performance-and-quality-framework. Billings J, Georghiou T, Blunt I, Bardsley M. Choosing a model to predict hospital admission: an observational study of new variants of predictive models for case finding. BMJ Open. 2013 Aug;3(8):e003352.

Effective medicines safety at transition of care

- 23. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia.Medicine Safety: Take Care.Canberra: PSA;2019.
- Ahmad A, Mast MR, Nijpels G, Elders PJ, Dekker JM, Hugtenburg JG. Identification of drug-related problems of elderly patients discharged from hospital. Patient Preference and Adherence. 2014;8:155. doi:10.2147/ PPA. S48357.
- 25. Leendertse AJ, Visser D, Egberts AC, van den Bemt PM. The relationship between study characteristics and the prevalence of medication-related hospitalizations. Drug Safety. 2010 Mar;33(3):233-44. doi:10.2165/11319030-00000000-00000.
- MacKinnon NJ, Helper CD. Indicators of preventable drugrelated morbidity in older adults. Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy. 2003 Mar;9(2):134-41. doi:10.18553/ jmcp.2003.9.2.134.

Enhancing medicine reconciliation delivered by community pharmacies

- Parekh N, Ali K, Page A, Roper T, Rajkumar C. Incidence of medication-related harm in older adults after hospital discharge: a systematic review. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2018 Sep;66(9):1812-22. doi:10.1111/ jgs.15419.
- 28. Pharmaceutical Society of Australia.Medicine Safety: Take Care.Canberra: PSA;2019.
- 29. Gilbert AL, Roughead EE, Mott K, Barratt JD, Beilby J. Collaborative medication management services: improving patient care. Medical Journal of Australia. 2002 Aug;177(4):189-92. doi:10.5694/j.1326-5377.2002. tb04730.x
- Ahmad A, Mast MR, Nijpels G, Elders PJ, Dekker JM, Hugtenburg JG. Identification of drug-related problems of elderly patients discharged from hospital. Patient Preference and Adherence. 2014;8:155. doi:10.2147/PPA. S48357.
- Duncan G, Ngo C, Fanning L, Taylor DA, McNamara K, Caliph S, Suen B, Johnston S, Darzins P. Protocol for a randomised controlled trial evaluating the impact of a community pharmacy discharge medication reconciliation service on unplanned hospital readmissions–The DCMedsRec trial. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2021 Feb;17(2):460-5.

Prescribing personalised health information at hospital discharge in Indigenous communities

- 32. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.Australia's health 2018: in brief.Canberra: AIHW; 2018.
- 33. Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care.Health literacy: taking action to improve safety and quality.Sydney: ACSQHC; 2014.
- 34. Clouston S, Manganello J, Richards M. A life course approach to health literacy: the role of gender, educational attainment and lifetime cognitive capability. Age and Ageing. 2017; 36(3): 493-9.

- Shim, M, Kelly, B, Hornik, R. Cancer information scanning and seeking behavior is associated with knowledge, lifestyle choices, and screening. Journal of Health Communication: International Perspectives. 2006; 11(Suppl.1): 157-172.
- 36. Tian, Y, Robinson, JD. Incidental health information use on the Internet.Health Communication. 2009; 24: 41-49.
- Kalichman, SC, Cherry, C, Cain, D, Pope, H, Kalichman, M, Eaton, L. Internet-based health information consumer skills intervention for people living with HIV/AIDS. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 2006; 74: 545-554.

Connecting chronically ill patients to their digital health ecosystem through a mobile app

- 38. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.Australia's health 2020. Canberra: AIHW; 2020.
- 39. Baxter S, Johnson M, Chambers D, Sutton A, Goyder E, Booth A. The effects of integrated care: a systematic review of UK and international evidence. BMC Health Services Research. 2018 Dec;18(1):1-3.
- 40. Powell Davies G, Williams AM, Larsen K, Perkins D, Roland M, Harris MF. Coordinating primary health care: an analysis of the outcomes of a systematic review. Medical Journal of Australia. 2008 Apr;188:S65-8.
- Nolte E, Pitchforth E. What is the evidence on the economic impacts of integrated care? European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies.World Health Organisation. [Internet] 2014. Available from: https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/332002.
- 42. Primary Health Care Advisory Group.Primary Health Care Advisory Group Final Report: Better outcomes for people with chronic and complex health conditions. [Internet] 2016. Available from: https://www1.health.gov. au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/primary-phcagreport.

Maintaining continuity of care for prisoners released from incarceration

- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 4517.0 Prisoners in Australia, 2016. [Internet] 2016. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/ ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/ by Subject/4517.0~2016~Main Features~Prisoner characteristics, Australia~4.
- 44. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.The health of Australia's prisoners 2018.Cat.no.PHE 246.Canberra: AIHW. 2019.
- Lincoln T, Kennedy S, Tuthill R, Roberts C, Conklin TJ, Hammett TM. Facilitators and barriers to continuing healthcare after jail: a community-integrated program. The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management. 2006 Jan;29(1):2-16. doi:10.1097/00004479-200601000-00002.
- 46. Davis K, Ostini J. Understanding the post-release technology experiences of women ex-prisoners: Do they have the access and literacies to support employment and study? Report funded by the Queensland Corrective Services. 2019 Dec.

Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging in the aged care sector

 Makeham M, Pont L, Verdult C, Hardie RA, Raban MZ, Mitchell R, Purdy H, Teichert M, Ingersoll A, Westbrook JI. The General Practice and Residential Aged Care Facility Concordance of Medication (GRACEMED) study. International Journal of Medical Informatics. 2020 Nov;143:104264. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104264.

Promoting My Health Record and secure messaging among private specialists

No references

Conclusion and next steps

- Torous J, Myrick KJ, Rauseo-Ricupero N, Firth J. Digital mental health and COVID-19: using technology today to accelerate the curve on access and quality tomorrow. JMIR Mental Health. 2020 Mar;7(3):e18848. doi:10.2196/18848.
- 49. Fleming TM, De Beurs D, Khazaal Y, Gaggioli A, Riva G, Botella C, Baños RM, Aschieri F, Bavin LM, Kleiboer A, Merry S. Maximizing the impact of e-therapy and serious gaming: time for a paradigm shift. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2016:65. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00065.
- 50. Pham Q, Wiljer D, Cafazzo JA. Beyond the randomized controlled trial: a review of alternatives in mHealth clinical trial methods. JMIR mHealth and uHealth. 2016 Sep 9;4(3):e5720. doi:10.2196/mhealth.5720.
- 51. Greenhalgh T, Russell J. Why do evaluations of eHealth programs fail? An alternative set of guiding principles. PLoS Medicine. 2010 Nov;7(11):e1000360. doi:10.1371/ journal.pmed.1000360.